# GROWTH, NODULATION AND YIELD RESPONSES OF CHICKPEA (Cicer arietinum L.) VARIETIES TO DIFFERENT RATES OF NPSB BLENDED FERTILIZER AND INOCULANTS IN MESKAN DISTRICT, CENTERAL ETHIOPIA

**MSc THESIS** 

# MOHAMMED HAMID

**FEBRUARY 2020** 

JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

# GROWTH, NODULATION AND YIELD RESPONSES OF CHICKPEA (Cicer arietinum L.) VARIETIES TO DIFFERENT RATES OF NPSB BLENDED FERTILIZER AND INOCULANTS IN MESKAN DISTRICT, CENTERAL ETHIOPIA

**MSc** Thesis

# **Mohammed Hamid**

### A Thesis

Submitted to Department of Horticulture and Plant Sciences, Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science Degree in Agronomy

> February 2020 Jimma, Ethiopia

### Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine

Thesis submission for External Defense Request form (F= 07)

### Name of students: Mohammed Hamid

ID No. <u>**RM 1243/10**</u>

Program of study: MSc. Agronomy

Title: "Growth, Nodulation and Yield Response of Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) Varieties to Different Rates of NPSB Fertilizer and Inoculants in Meskan District, Centeral Ethiopia"

I have incorporated the suggestion and modification given during the internal thesis defense and got the approval of my advisors. Hence, I hereby kindly request the department to allow me to submit my thesis for external thesis defense.

Name of the student: Mohammed Hamid Signature of the student \_\_\_\_\_

We, the thesis advisors have verified that the student has incorporated the suggestions and modifications given during the internal thesis defense and the thesis is ready to be submitted. Hence, we recommend the thesis to be submitted for external defense.

Amsalu Nebiyu (PhD, Associate Professor) Major advisor:	Signature	Date		
Asnake Fikre (PhD) Co-advisor:	Signature	Date		
Decision / suggestion of department graduate	council/ DGC/			
Chairperson, DGC Signature Date CGS	Signature	Date		
Chairperson, CGS	Signature	Date		

# DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my mother Mehdiya Abdulshikur for her affection, encouragement, supplication and partnership in the success of my life and realization of my dream.

### **STATEMENT OF AUTHOR**

First, I declare that this thesis is a result of my genuine work and that all sources of materials used for writing it have been duly acknowledged. This thesis has been submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Jmma University and is deposited at the library of the university to make it available for readers. I solemnly declare that this thesis has not been submitted to any other institution anywhere for the award of any academic degree, diploma or certificate.

Brief quotations from thesis are allowable without requiring special permission provided that an accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotations from or duplicate of this thesis in whole or in part may be granted by the Head of the Department of Horticulture and Plant Science or the Director of Postgraduate Programs of Jimma University when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is in the interest of scholarship. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author of the thesis.

Name: Mohammed Hamid

Signature \_\_\_\_\_

Place: Jimma University

Date of Submission; October 2019

#### **BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH**

The author, Mohammed Hamid Beshir was born on October 12, 1990 at Butajira town, Gurage Zone, Souther nation nationalities people regional State. He attended his primary school at Weja and Enseno respectively, his Secondary and Preparatory Schools at Butajira. He joined Haramaya University, College of Agriculture and Natural Resource Management in 2001 E.C and graduated with BSc Degree in Plant Sciences in 2003 E.C.

After his graduation, he joined Meskan woreda Agricultural Development Office now Meskan Woreda Agriculture and Natural Resources Office in 2004 E.C and worked as agronomist and during his stay in Woreda Agriculture and Natural Resources Office, he has served in different positions including work process representative until he joined School of Graduate Study of Jimma University in 2010 E.C to pursue his study leading to Master of Science in Agronomy.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost, it is my pleasure to express my heartfelt appreciation and special gratitude to my major advisor Dr. Amsalu Nebiyu and Co-advisor Dr.Asnake Fikre for their unreserved support and encouragement which I have enjoyed throughout the course of the study. Their thorough review and constructive criticism, statistical analysis and suggestion on the manuscript were among the most important factors that enabled me to shape up this thesis in its final form. The visit made by them to my research field was highly appreciated and never to be forgotten without which its success wouldn't be achieved.

My thanks also go to Meskan Woreda Agriculture and Natural Resources Office for giving me this opportunity and financing the some process.

I would like to thank Debrezeit Agricultural Research Center for providing me with inputs such as seeds and access to research facilities and soil laboratory during laboratory work.

I would like to express my special thanks to my beloved mom Mehdiya Abdulshikur whose words of encouragement, affection and prayers served me as a source of strength, inspiration and impetus throughout my study Most importantly it's my pleasure to thank my wife Kemer Mohammed and my friends Mohammed Hassen and Kedir husen for their enormous amount of faith, endless love and dedication and strong labor support shouldering lots of responsibilities during the whole period of my study.

I feel deep sense of gratitude for all of my teachers starting from my nursery whose effect on me gave this result and without their effert I wouldn't be here today. Above all, I would like to thank the Almighty God (Allah) for His plan on me.

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AE	Agronomic efficiency
ANOVA	Analysis of variance.
ATA	Agricultural Transformation Agency.
ATP	Adenosine triphosphet.
BARC	Bako Agricultural Research Center.
BNF	Biological nitrogen fixation.
CEC	Cation exchange capacity.
CIMMYT	International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center
CSA	Central Statistics Agency of Ethiopia
DZARC	DebreZzeit Agricultural Research Center.
FAOSTAT	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
MRR	Marginal rate of return
PGPR	Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria
RCBD	Randomized complete block design
SNNPRS	South Nation Nationalities Peoples Regional state.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS	PAGE
DEDICATION	I
STATEMENT OF AUTHOR	II
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	IV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VI
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF APPENDIXES	X
ABSTRACT	XI
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1. Description of Chickpea	4
2.2. Production and Yield Trends of Chickpea in Ethiopia	5
2.3. Nutritional and Economical Importance of Chickpea	6
2.4. Nutrient requirement of chickpea for its growth, nodulation and production	7
2.5. Response of Chickpea to Fertilizer Application	7
2.5.1. Nitrogen application	7
2.5.2. Phosphorus application	9
2.5.3. Sulfur application	11
2.5.4. Boron application	12
2.6. Response of chickpea to Rhizobium Inoculation	
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	15
3.1. Description of the Experimental Site	15
3.2. Experimental Material	15
3.2.1. Chickpea varieties	15
3.2.2. NPSB blended fertilizer	16
3.2.3. Inoculant	16

3.3. Treatment and Experimental Design	
3.4. Experimental Procedures and Trial Management	
3.5. Soil Sampling and Analysis	
3.6. Data collection parameters	
3.6.1. Physico-Chemical Soil Properties of the Experimental Site	
3.6.2. Crop phenology	19
3.6.3. Growth parameter	19
3.6.4. Nodulation parameter	20
3.6.5. Yield and yield components	20
3.7. Data Analysis	21
3.8. Economic Analysis	
4. RESULT AND DISCUSSION	23
4.1. Crop Phenology	
4.1.1. Days to 50% flowering	23
4.1.2. Days to 90% maturity	25
4.2. Growth Parameters	
4.2.1. Plant height	
4.2.2. Number of primary branches	27
4.2.3. Leaf area	
4.2.4. Shoot dry weight	29
4.2.5. Root dry weight	
4.2.2. Nodule parameters	
4.2.2.1. Nodule number	
4.2.2.2. Nodule fresh weight	34
4.2.2.3. Nodule dry weight	35
4.2.2.4. Number of effective nodule	
4.2.3. Yield and Yield Components of Chickpea	
4.2.3.1.Number of Pods per Plant	
4.2.3.2.Number of seed per pod	40
4.2.3.3. Harvest index	42
4.2.3.4. Hundred Seed weight	43

4.2.3.5. Grain yield	45
4.2.3.6. Agronomic Efficiency of the applied fertilizer	47
4.3. correlation of grain yield and yield components of chickpea	
4.4. Economic Analysis	51
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSSION	54
6. REFERENCES	56
APPENDXICES	68

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLES PAGE	
Table 1. Description of varieties used in the present study	.5
Table 2. Physico-chemical analysis result of soil experimental site 1	.9
Table 3. Chickpea date of 50% flowering as influenced by interaction effect of variety and	
rate of NPSB blended fertilizer at Meskan in 2017/182	25
Table 4. Chickpea Date of maturity as influenced by interaction effect of inoculation and	
varieties at Meskan in2017/182	26
Table 5. Chickpea number of primary branches as influenced by interaction effect of	
inoculation with rates of NPSB fertilizer at Meskan in2017/182	28
Table 6 : Growth of chickpea as influenced by Rhizobium inoculation, variety and NPSB	
blended fertilizer rates at meskan in 2017/183	31
Table 7: Numbers of nodules per plant of chickpea as affected by NPSB blended fertilizer	
rates and interaction of Rhizobium inoculants with variety at Meskan District in	
2017/18	\$4
Table 8. Nodules fresh weight of chickpea as affected by the three way of variety, Rhizobium	n
inoculation and rates of NPSB blended fertilizer and interaction of with variety at	
Meskan District in 2017/18	;5
Table 9. Chickpea nodule dry weight as influenced by combined effect inoculation with	
variety, inoculation with fertilizer and variety with Fertilizer at Meskan District in	
2017/18	;7
Table 10. Numbers of effective nodules per plant of chickpea as affected by interaction of	
rhizobium inoculation and rate of NPSB at Meskan District in 2017/183	;9
Table 11. Number of seeds per pod of chickpea varieties as affected by the main effect of	
varieties and blended NPSB fertilizer in Meskan District during 2017/20184	2
Table 12. Effect of combined application of different rates NPSB blended fertilizer, varieties	
and Rhizobium inoculation on yield and yield components of chickpea at meskan in	1
2017/184	7
Table 13. Correlation of grain yield and yield components of chickpea	60
Table 14. Summary of economic analysis of the response of chickpea varieties for rates of	
blended NPSB fertilizer and rhizobium inoculation at meskan in 2018/20195	53

### LIST OF APPENDIXES

APPENDIXES PAGE	
Appendix Table 1. Mean square values of 50% flowering date, 90% physiological maturity	
date and plant height, number of branches plant- <sup>1</sup> leaf area index, shoot dry	1
weight and root dry weight	. 69
Appendix Table 2. Mean square values of nodule number, nodule fresh weight, nodule dry	
weight and number of effective nodule	. 70
Appendix Table 3. Mean square values of hundred seed weight, harvest index, number of seed	
pod <sup>-1</sup> ,number of pod plant <sup>-1</sup> and grain yield	. 69
Appendix Table 4. Mean square values of agronomic efficiency of applied fertilizer,	. 70

### Growth, Nodulation and Yield Responses of Chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) Varieties to Different Rates of NPSB Blended Fertilizer and Inoculants in Meskan District, Centeral

#### Ethiopia

#### ABSTRACT

Lack of improved varieties and adequate information on the use of Rhizobium strain and NPSB blended fertilizer is the major yield limiting factors of chickpea production on vertisols in the Meskan area. Hence, a field experiment was carried out during the main cropping season of 2017/18 in Meskan District, to evaluate the growth, nodulation, yield and yield component of two improved chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) varieties to different rates of NPSB blended fertilizer and Rhizobium inoculant and thereby to determine the optimum fertilizer rate. Factors studied were two levels of Rhizobium inoculation (with and without) for high vield of varieties, two chickpea varieties (Arerti and Habru) and four levels of blended NPSB fertilizer (0, 30, 60, 90 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>). The experiment was conducted in a  $2 \times 2 \times 4$  factorial combination in randomized complete block design with three replications. Data on growth, nodulation, yield and yield components were recorded and subjected to analysis of Variance (ANOVA). ANOVA showed that crop phenology (days to 50% flowering and days to physiological maturity), the growth (plant height, leaf area, number of primary branches, shoot dry weight, root dry weight), nodulation (number of nodules, nodule dry weight, number of effective nodules) and yield and yield components (number of pods, number of seeds, hundred seed weight, harvest index, grain yield and agronomic efficiency) were significantly affected by the different factor combinations. The highest mean value of seed yield  $(3814 \text{kg ha}^{-1})$  was obtained from combined application of rhizobium inoculation and 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> from variety Habru which resulted in 77.11% increase over the control (873.33kg ha<sup>-1</sup>). The partial budget analysis revealed that the maximum (ETB 66740.19 ha<sup>-1</sup>) net benefit were obtained from combined application of rhizobium inoculation and 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> from variety Habru with MRR of 5754.64% and minimum (ETB  $12886ha^{-1}$ ) net benefit were obtained from the control, respectively. The result showed a net benefit advantage of 80.6% (ETB 53854 ha<sup>-1</sup>) when compared the maximum and minimum net benefit. Hence, Rhizobium inoculation with application of 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> could be tentatively recommended for chickpea production in Meskan area. However, the experiment should be repeated over years and locations to give a valid recommendation.

Key word: Agronomicy efficiency, blended fertilizer, Inoculation, MRR

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) is the only cultivated species within the genus *Cicer* (Namvar and Sharifi, 2011). The crop is a self-pollinated diploid species with chromosome number of 2n = 2x = 16 (Arumuganathan and Earle, 1991). There are two main types of chickpea germplasm, namely desi (small, angular and colored seeds) grown mostly in the Indian subcontinent and kabuli (large to medium-size, rams-head shaped and light brown to white seeds, smooth to scarcely rugose) grown mainly in the Mediterranean Basin (Singh, 1997). It is grown in many parts of the world and an important source of human food and animal feed (Millan *et al.*, 2006).

In Ethiopia, chickpea is the third leading food legume in the production area coverage and its production next to faba bean and common bean (Pande *et al.*, 2011). It is an integral part of the cropping systems of the farmers because the crop fits well in the crop rotation, double and mixed cropping system. It has multiple uses and can grow under the condition of low soil fertility and varying conditions of soil and climate (Fikre, 2014). Chickpea returns significant amount of nitrogen to soil and improves the N balance. Moreover, when chickpea is used in crop rotation, it breaks disease cycles of important cereal pathogens (Pande *et al.*, 2011).

The agro-climatic conditions in Ethiopia are suitable for growing chickpeas. It is widely grown across the highlands and semi-arid regions of Ethiopia (Anbessa and Bejiga, 2002). It is cultivated at altitudes ranging from 1400 to 2300 meters above sea level (m.a.s.l.) and with annual rainfall ranging from 700 to 2000 mm on Vertisols having pH ranges of 6.4-7.9. The crop largely grows under residual moisture at the end of the main rainy season in water-logging areas (Bekele *et al.*, 2007).

In 2014, Ethiopia produced 60% of Africa's total chickpea production (Ojiewo, 2016). The total area of chickpea in Ethiopia covers about 242 000 ha over the past decades (CSA, 2017), with Desi varieties grown mainly for the local market and the larger seeded, Kabuli varieties largely for export. Yet, productivity of chickpea remains low, with national average yield of 2.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> (CSA, 2017), which is far below the potential yield of 4–5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> reported on experimental stations (Fikre, 2016), and the regional average yield is 1.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> (CSA, 2006/7). The yield gap is mostly due to poor crop management and cultural practices such as

no use of fertilizer, lack of improved varieties that are adapted to different environmental conditions, inappropriate use of rhizobium strain, soil fertility decline and lack of appropriate technologies such as recommended fertilizer rate and inadequate pest and disease management (Asfaw, 1994).

In Meskan District, Agricultural Transformation Agency (ATA) recommended site specific blended fertilizer applications for all crops. But, in the study area relatively no investigations have analyzed the application rates of the new recommended crop specific nutrient blended fertilizer NPSB (18.9 kg N, 37.7 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, 6.95 kg S, and 0.1kg B) (EthoSIS, 2014). Besides, in the study area limited research has been done on the interaction effects of various agronomic practices such as rhizobium inoculation and its effect in different chickpea varieties differ in size, and surface of seed, and plant morphology (Purushothaman *et al*, 2014).

Inoculation of legumes is necessary in the absence of compatible Rhizobium or where indigenous Rhizobial populations are low or inefficient in fixing nitrogen (Catroux *et al.*, 2001). In a rain-fed field experiment greater number of nodules in inoculated treatments compared with non-inoculated ones that relied on indigenous Rhizobia. Since chickpea is a relatively new crop for Meskan area, with hardly any production, it is likely that compatible and effective native Rhizobia may be lacking in the soils of this area. Therefore, inoculation with commercial rhizobia may increase effective nodulation and N fixation and hence improve yields and provide a substitute to an inorganic fertilizer (Romdhane *et al.* 2009)

For more than a few years unlike studies have been undertaken on inoculation trial of several pulse crops in Ethiopia (Angaw and Asfaw, 2006). hence, field trial showed positive response of faba bean (*Viciafaba* L.) and chickpea (*Cicer arientinum* L.) to inoculation and NP fertilizer application. They also showed that inoculation increased the productivity of different pulse crops in some parts of Ethiopia. Several authors also indicated the positive effect of *Rhizobium* inoculation alone and in combination with NP fertilizer on different soil types (Ayneabeba *et al.*, 2001)

In Ethiopia, inoculation is not a new technology (Habtamu *et al.*, 2017). However, it is not widely used by the farmers but *Rhizobium* strains are being selected and distributed to the

farmers to facilitate fixation of the target legumes crop. Inoculation significantly improved nodule number per plant as compared with uninoculated treatment; this is because of inoculated bacteria strain had good nodulation inducing capacity over the native soil *Rhizobium* population (Habtamu *et al.*,2017). Inoculation of *Rhizobium* strain (CP-41) significantly increased hundred seed weight and seed yield ha<sup>-1</sup> of chickpea (Endalkachew *et al.*, 2018) The maximum hundred seed weight (21%) and increased seed yield (50%) were recorded from inoculation of chickpea with *Rhazobium* strain CP-41 in four different Woredas (districts), namely Gimbichu (Central), Damote-Gale (South), and Ginir (South-east Ethiopia) (Tena *et al.*, 2016). Anteneh (2016) reported, the highest grain yield (3286.27 and 2951.36 kg ha-1) at Haramaya and Hirna, respectively, with inoculation of common bean with *Rhizobium* strain. However, the recommended rate of fertilizer might vary according to crop type, location, soil type and amount of fertilizer application from farmer to farmer lack of awareness and financial capacity. So far a number of researches have been done on chickpea but effect of NPSB blended fertilizer and inoculation, especially in the study area is scanty.

Currently, new blended fertilizer NPSB (18.9N,  $37.7P_2O_5$ , 6.95S and 0.1B) and rhizobium inoculants are distributed to the growers in study area; but, their rate of application is not experimentally determined for chickpea varieties. Thus, this study was carried out with the objectives of

• To determine the combined effect of inoculation and NPSB fertilizer application on growth, yield and yield component of chickpea varieties.

#### **2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1. Description of Chickpea

Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) is believed to have been originated in the present-day south eastern Turkey and adjoining Syria (Saxena and Singh, 1987). It is the only one annual cultivated species among the nine annuals from the genus *Cicer*. The cultivated chickpea belongs to family *Fabaceae* (formerly Leguminosae) and subfamily Faboideae (Vander, 1987). Existence of a pea-shaped third type characterized by medium to small seed size and creamy color has also been recognized which may be the result of intercrossing between Desi and Kabuli types that has resulted in a sort of intermediate group types (Upadhyaya *et al.*, 2008). Extra-large Kabuli attracts heavy premium prices and is more preferred in European, North American, South African and Middle East markets with a greater export needs (Shiferaw *et al.*, 2007).

The lateral roots develop nodules with the symbiotic rhizobium bacteria, capable of fixing atmospheric nitrogen in plant-usable form (Gan *et al*, 2010). The plant stem is erect, branched, viscous, hairy, herbaceous, green, and solid. The branches are usually quadrangular, ribbed, and green. There are primary, secondary, and tertiary branches. The primary branches form an angle with a vertical axis, ranging from almost a right angle (prostrate habit) to an acute angle (erect). Generally stems are incurved at the top, forming a spreading canopy (Cubero, 1987). The entire surface of the plant shoot, except the corolla, is densely covered with fine hairs known as trichomes. Many are glandular and secrete a highly acidic substance containing malic, oxalic and citric acids. These acids play an important role in protecting the plant against insect pests. Chickpea is annual crop that can complete its life cycle in 90 to 180 days depending on the prevailing meteorological conditions (Gaur, 2010).

Chickpea plant is drought-resistant, but genetic variation exists by date of maturity. Longer delay in flowering time may be an signal of the variety susceptibility to drought, and this character may be also used as an integrative trait to categorize which type of chickpea is tolerant and susceptible to drought (Tesfahun *et al.*, 2018). It might be attributed to the fact that flowering time in chickpea is considered to be varietal characteristics, which is genetically controlled. Some studies showed that the differential response to flowering among

varieties was distinct. For instance, Tripathi *et al.* (2013) reported that differences among varieties of chickpea in days to 50% flowering.

Most of the improved chickpea varieties with their appropriate agronomic practices have been demonstrated to farmers, they also constitute leader farmers in the production and marketing of high-value improved Kabuli type chickpeas. However, recent study in some woredas indicated that taken together this implies the available high yielding varieties with market preferred traits have not fully reached farmers (Takele and Dechassa, 2018).

#### 2.2. Production and Yield Trends of Chickpea in Ethiopia

Ethiopia having greatly increased production in recent years now accounts for over 2% of world production, and stood  $6^{th}$  on the global ranking of chickpea producing countries (FAOSTAT, 2015).The country is also the largest chickpea producer in Africa, with a share of about 60% of total chickpea produced in the continent (FAOSTAT, 2014). About 75% of the area all over the world is covered by the Desi types and the remaining 25% by the Kabuli types (Kassie *et al.*, 2009). The main producers of the Desi types are India, Pakistan and Ethiopia, while Mexico, Iran, Afghanistan, Spain and Chile are the major producers of the Kabuli types (Kassie *et al.*, 2009). In Ethiopia, currently the desi type chickpea accounts for about 42 percent of production and is grown across a wide range of ecologies (recent technology survey, unpublished).

Although chickpea is widely grown in Ethiopia, the major producing areas are concentrated in two states i.e. Amhara and Oromia. These two states cover more than 90% of the entire chickpea area and constitute about 92% of the total chickpea production. The top nine chickpea producing zones (North Gonder, South Gonder, North Shoa, East Gojam, South Wollo, North Wollo, West Gojam and Gonder Zuria) belong to the Amhara region and account for about 80% of the country's chickpea production. In the Oromia region, the major producing zones are West Shoa, East Shoa and North Shoa, which account for about 85% of the total area and production (ICRISAT, 2015). The area under chickpea cultivation has more than doubled from 109,000 ha in 1993 to about 230,000 ha in 2012 in Ethiopia while the yields jumped from about 550 to 1,730 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> during the same period (ICRISAT, 2015). In 2016/2017 cropping season, the country produced 444,145.93 tons of chickpea on 225,607.53

ha of land with an average productivity of 1.97 tons ha<sup>-1</sup>. Oromia region accounted for 181,606.06 tons of chickpea from 81,286.46 ha of land with productivity of 2.23 tons ha<sup>-1</sup> in the same cropping year. Particularly in East Shoa Zone of chickpea was 2.85 tons ha<sup>-1</sup> and occupied 13,352.88 ha of land and a total of 38,013.95 tons of chickpea was produced (CSA, 2017). This showed the suitability of the area for chickpea production specially on black soil.

#### 2.3. Nutritional and Economical Importance of Chickpea

Chickpea is a nutrient-rich food, providing rich content (20% or higher of the Daily Value) of protein, dietary fibre, folate and certain dietary minerals such as iron and phosphorus. Thiamin, vitamin B6, magnesium and zinc contents are moderate, providing 10–16% of the daily value (El-Adawy, 2002). Chickpea is a good source of carbohydrates and protein, and the protein quality is considered to be better than that of other pulses and also it has significant amounts of all the essential amino acids except sulfur containing types, which can be complemented by adding cereals to the daily diet (Jukanti *et al.*, 2012). It is very high in dietary fiber and hence, a healthy source of carbohydrates for persons with insulin sensitivity or diabetes. The nutrient composition of chickpea seed constitutes fat (4-10%), carbohydrates (52-70%), minerals [calcium (0.2%) and phosphorous (3.0%)] (Ozer *et al.*, 2010). Chickpea is a highly nutritious and an inexpensive source of protein that is estimated at 24% and ranges from 15-30% (Hulse, 1994) depending on variety and environmental conditions (Nleya *et al.*, 2000).

Chickpea is a less labor-intensive crop and its production demands low external inputs as compared to cereals. In Ethiopia, chickpea is widely grown across the country and serves as a multi-purpose crop (Shiferaw *et al.*, 2007). It enhances more intensive and productive use of land, particularly in areas where land is scarce and the crop can be grown as a second crop using residual moisture. The crop reduces malnutrition and improves human health especially for the poor who cannot afford livestock products. It also increases livestock productivity as the residue is rich in digestible crude protein content compared to cereals. The growing demand in both the domestic and export markets provides a source of cash for smallholder producers (Kassie *et al.*, 2009). Chickpea is one of the newly emerging export commodities being promoted for expansion in Ethiopia (Shiferaw *et al.*, 2007). Ethiopia is the leading producer, consumer and exporter of chickpea in Africa and has 4.5% share of the global

chickpea market and more than 60% of Africa's global chickpea market share (ICRISAT, 2015).

#### 2.4. Nutrient requirement of chickpea for growth, nodulation and production

Phosphorus is the second most critical plant nutrient overall, but for pulses it assumes primary importance owing to its important role in root proliferation, and thereby atmospheric nitrogen assimilation. Phosphorus is involved in metabolic and enzymatic reaction and is a constituent of ATP and ADP. The evolution of science, particularly in the past century, has clearly demonstrated the significance of phosphorus for all animal and plant life on the earth (Ryan *et al.*, 2012). Among various nutritional requirements for production, nitrogen (N) is known to be an essential element for plant growth and development. Nitrogen deficiency limits plant growth and development. It also limits cell division, chloroplast development, enzyme activity and reduces dry matter yields (Salvagiotti *et al.*, 2008). Biofertilizers are living microorganisms, which when applied through seed or soil treatment; promote growth by increasing the supply or availability of nutrients to the host plant (Moin Uddin *et al.*, 2014). In plants, they also increase the content of growth hormones such as indole acetic acid and gibberellic acid, leading to enhancement in the growth of plants (Asad *et al.*, 2004)

#### 2.5. Response of Chickpea to Fertilizer Application

#### 2.5.1. Nitrogen application

Maintaining soil fertility and use of plant nutrient in sufficient and balanced amount is one of the key components in increasing crop yield (Caliskan *et al.*, 2008). Among various nutritional requirements for production, nitrogen (N) is known to be an essential element for plant growth and development. Nitrogen deficiency limits plant growth and development. It also limits cell division, chloroplast development, enzyme activity and reduces dry matter yields (Salvagiotti *et al.*, 2008). The most important role of N in the plant is its presence in the structure of protein and nucleic acids which are the most important building block and information substances of every cell. In addition, N is also found in chlorophyll that enables the plant to transfer energy from sunlight by photosynthesis. Thus, the supply of N to the plant will influence the amount of protein, amino acids, protoplasm and chlorophyll formed. Consequently, it influences cell size, leaf area and photosynthetic activity (Caliskan *et al.*, 2008).

Growth is generally a function of environmental factors (such as temperature and solar radiation) and mineral nutrition, along with genotype and production practices (Alam and Haider, 2006). Growth analysis is one way to verify the crops ecological adaptation to new environments, the competition between species, crops management effects and the identification of the productive capacity of different genotypes. The dynamics of dry matter distribution to various plant organs, their yielding and productivity may be characterized by using various indices of growth analysis (Kibe *et al.*, 2006). Some investigations revealed that, plant height decreased with decreasing rate of nitrogen level in combined application of nutrients (Sutharsan *et al.*, 2016); and the increasing of LAI was attributed to the rise in leaf number and total leaf area per plant (Kibe *et al.*, 2006). The maximum values of LAI in inoculated and noninoculated plants were observed in application of 75 (23.45% increase over control) and 100 kg urea ha<sup>-1</sup> (20.67% increase over control), respectively. Plants treated with 0 kg urea ha<sup>-1</sup> revealed the lowest LAI at both levels of inoculation. Similarly, the lowest LAI was recorded at zero fertilizer application which is in agreement with findings of Faisalabad *et al.*, (2010).

Nitrogen (N) deficiency is frequently a major limiting factor for high yielding crops all over the world (Namvar et al., 2011). Thus, the supply of N to the plant will influence the amount of protein, amino acids, protoplasm and chlorophyll formed. Consequently, it influences cell size, leaf area and photosynthetic activity (Salvagiotti et al., 2008). Therefore, adequate supply of N is necessary to achieve high yield potential in crops. In general, N deficiency causes a reduction in growth rate, general chlorosis, often accompanied by early senescence of older leaves, and reduced yield (Erman et al., 2011). This result was similar with the finding of Lema et al. (2013) who reported N and P fertilizer have significantly affected the NNP, NDWP and yield components of chickpea relative to the control. The highest NNP and NDWP were obtained from 11.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> followed by 23 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> treatments while, the least NNP and NDWP were recorded in the untreated control (N0) treatment. The result implied that both N treatments had stimulating effect on nodulation of chickpea (Lema et al., 2013). Nodule number and nodule dry mass were significantly affected by various levels of NPSZnB applications increase number of nodule per plant and heavier dry mass of nodule were obtained with NPSZnB blended fertilizer applications increase and decrease the number of nodule per plant in common bean and lighter dry mass of nodule were obtained with 0 kg

NPSZnB ha<sup>-1</sup> blended fertilizer applications (Lake and Jemaludin, 2018). This result also was in line with the finding of Tsai *et al.* (1993) as reported that application of nitrogen in the range of 22 to 33 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> enhanced nodulation

The most important role of N in the plant is its presence in the structure of protein and nucleic acids which are the most important building and information substances of every cell. In addition, N is also found in chlorophyll that enables the plant to transfer energy from sunlight by photosynthesis. Thus, the supply of N to the plant will influence the amount of protein, amino acids, protoplasm and chlorophyll formed. Consequently, it influences cell size, leaf area and photosynthetic activity (Salvagiotti *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, adequate supply of N is necessary to achieve high yield potential in crops. In general, N deficiency causes a reduction in growth rate, general chlorosis, often accompanied by early senescence of older leaves, and reduced yield (Caliskan *et al.*, 2008).

Thus, in soils with N deficiency, there is a need to apply small dose of N fertilizer to legumes to overcome the deficiency and harness their growth and this low dose of N applied externally is called starter dose. In this regard, Thakur *et al.* (2011) recommend that legume like chickpea requires low rates of N which is between 15-20 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> in nitrogen deficient soils. This is due to the fact that the crop needs small amount of soil N for its growth until Rhizobia-chickpea association is established and symbiotic N-fixation is commenced. From all these results, it can be inferred that it is essential to apply N and P fertilizer to legumes supposed to be grown in soils which are deficient in these nutrients.

In this regard, most Ethiopian soils are poor in N and P contents indicating that areas growing legumes are also low in N and P (Wassie and Tekalign, 2017). However, the degree of deficiencies of N and P varies depending soil type, crop variety and environmental variables. This implies that there is a need to test and establish optimum N and P rates for adequate production of chickpeas

#### 2.5.2. Phosphorus application

Phosphorus (P) is a major soil factor limiting the production and productivity of crops including chickpea in Ethiopia. It is a very vital nutrient required for efficient  $N_2$  fixation because symbiotic  $N_2$  fixation is very high power demanding process in the form of ATP

which has P as its major component. Thus, in soils of low extractable P, Poor nodulation and poor vigor of plants occur (Giller, 1998). Acute deficiency of P leads to even no nodule formation indicating how N<sub>2</sub> fixation is sensitive to P (Giller, 1995). According to Islam *et al.* (2012), the yield of chickpea was increased by 65 and 88 % due to the application of P fertilizers in Pakistan and Jordan respectively. However, the optimum P-requirement for adequate production of chickpea varies from soil to soil, variety to variety, region to region and agro ecology. The variation may also be due to stimulatory effect of phosphorus on growth hormones, induce early flowering in chickpea. The findings of Wondimu *et al.* (2008) who reported that increasing the NP application rate from 0 kg N, 0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> to 36 kg N, 92 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> significantly shortened the time required to attain 50% flowering (Mahmood and Honermeier, 2015). Shabeer *et al.* (2015) who reported that significant variation was observed by application of different level of Phosphorus on different variety of chickpea and also application of p promote earliness. In addition, Liu *et al.* (2005) have reported that boron increases soya bean photosynthesis rate.

Acharya *et al.* (2007) observed that Phosphatic fertilizer promotes flowering and seed formation and advancing crop maturity. In addition to this, nitrogen deficiency induces an early end of pea flowering (Sagan *et al.*, 1993). However, Tewari *et al.* (2010) reported no significant effects of P application on number of days to reach 50% flowering on common bean. Similarly, Tesfaye *et al.* (2015) also reported that interaction of P with variety to be non-significant in common bean. Meseret and Amin (2014) reported highest number of branches per plant was increased at rate of 20 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>. Dejene *et al.* (2017) reported that phosphorus have significantly increased plant height at application of 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P on common bean. Moreover, Tomar *et al.* (2004) also found the positive interaction effect of P and S. Furthermore, the presence of boron in the blended fertilizer might have also significantly increased plant growth eventually plant height increased.

Some specific growth factors that have been associated with P are: stimulated root development, increased stalk and stem strength, improved flower formation and seed production, more uniform and earlier crop maturity, increased nitrogen N-fixing capacity of legumes and improves in crop quality (Griffith, 2010)

#### 2.5.3. Sulfur application

Sulfur(S) is the fourth major element required for plant growth next to N, P, and K and most crops absorb as much S as it absorb P. Sulphur deficiency has been reported in the recent years even in many previously sulphur sufficient areas of the world. Scherer (2009) reported that S is becoming deficient due to cultivation of high yielding variety, use of high grade S free fertilizer and absence of industrial activities.

Leguminous plant species require a large quantity of S, probably because of their high protein content. Average S removal for producing 1 tone of food grain is estimated to be 3-4 kg by cereals (wheat and rice), 5-8 kg by sorghum and millet, 8 kg by pulses and legumes and 12 kg by oilseeds (Mudahar, 1985). Therefore, S deficiency in legume crops affects yield formation, quality and the nutritional value of seeds (Sexton et al., 1998). This is mainly because methionine is usually the most limiting essential amino acid in legume seeds (Friedman, 1996). Scherer (2008) has noted that root and nodule development of legumes root is promoted by S fertilization. Scherer and Lange (1996) also reported that S deficiency decreased N demand, which in turn decreased the number and mass of nodules. In contrast, an increase in N demand resulted in higher number and mass of nodules. Similarly, different authors reported that the dry weight of nodules increased with *Rhizobium* inoculation (Sipai et al., 2018). Ganeshamurthy and Reddy (2000) who found a significant increase in the number of active nodules with the application of sulphur up to 20 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> because sulfur is involved in the formation of nitrogenous enzyme known to promote nitrogen fixation in legumes (Scherer et al., 2006). This result was supported by Attar et al. (2012) who reported that various levels of P fertilizer applications significantly affected both nodule number and dry mass of common bean.

Kacar (1984) reported that S has positive effects on root growth in plants and positively affects nodulation in legume crops in particular. S is also a vital part of the ferredoxin, an iron-sulphur protein occurring in the chloroplasts. Ferredoxin has a significant role in nitrogen dioxide and sulphate reduction, the assimilation of N by root nodule bacteria and frees living N-fixing soil bacteria (Scherer *et al.*, 2008). Legume crops obtain N mainly from symbiotic  $N_2$  fixation, which may be affected by S deprivation and found a lower N accumulation and a yield reduction when S was limiting. S application and inoculation have immense potential of

increasing the amount of N fixed by legumes then it is improving fertility status of soil and also S affects growth of leguminous plant through its effect upon N<sub>2</sub> fixation by Rhizobium microorganisms because of relatively high S content of the nitrogenase (Habtegebrial *et al.*, 2007). Amanuel *et al.* (2000) reported that S deficiency may affect N<sub>2</sub> fixation. Growth and nitrogen (N) fixation rates by legume could be increased by highly efficient, competitive and persistent strains of Rhizobium.

Application of both phosphorus and sulphur resulted in increase in nitrogen fixation up to 38% and 33% over control, respectively. Nutrient uptake of nitrogen, phosphorus and S increased significantly with the application of P and S and positively correlated with nitrogen fixation. The same author also reported that, there is direct involvement of sulphur in the process of nitrogen fixation whereas effect of phosphorus on nitrogen fixation is indirect mainly through enhanced growth and dry matter production. Togay *et al.* (2008) reported that chickpea variety applied with phosphorus, sulphur and inoculation resulted in higher grain yield. S application significantly increased the uptake of Fe, Mn, Zn and Cu in grain. Despite the importance of this element in crop production, it is still not included in fertilizer recommendations of Ethiopia especially for legume crops like chickpea.

#### **2.5.4. Boron application**

Micronutrients play an important role in increasing yield of pulses and oilseed legumes through their effects on the plant itself and on the nitrogen fixing symbiotic process. The deficiency of these nutrients has been very pronounced under multiple cropping systems due to excess removal by structure of crops and hence their exogenous supplies are urgently required. Boron is very important in cell division and in pod and seed formation. Boron ranks third place among micronutrients in its concentration in seed and stem as well as its total amount after zinc (Robinson, 1994). In addition, Boron as micronutrients play an important role in regulating plant metabolic processes like in carbohydrate metabolism, flower retention, pollen fertility and germination, pod setting, seed development, yield and its components. Thus, the requirement of boron appears more essential for reproductive development than vegetative (Chandrakumar, 2013).

Moreover, Togay *et al.* (2008) reported that S has positive effects on root growth in plants and positively affects nodulation in legume crops in particular. S is also a vital part of the ferredoxin, an iron-sulphur protein occurring in the chloroplasts. Ferredoxin has a significant role in nitrogen dioxide and sulphate reduction, the assimilation of N by root nodule bacteria and frees living N-fixing soil bacteria (Scherer *et al.*, 2008). The critical level of boron with reference to crops in general was reported to be 0.15 to 0.20 ppm depending on soil types (BARC, 2005). Bharti *et al.* (2002) reported that mean seed yield of chickpea increased with the application of boron 2.5 kgha<sup>-1</sup>. Islam (2005) who observed that seed yield of chickpea increased significantly due to application of 1 to 1.5 kg B ha<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.6. Response of chickpea to Rhizobium Inoculation

Crop legumes, grown in rotation with cereal crops, can improve yields of the cereals and contribute to the total nitrogen (N) pool in soil. Legumes especially chickpea occupies special position regarding nutrition as well as soil fertility and improvement. It has the ability to grow well in poor soils as well as to improve them because of its efficient N fixation system. It can happily grow on marginal, poorly fertile sandy loam land, almost exclusively under rain-fed conditions in areas of low rainfall without any chemical or biological fertilizer. Soil factor exert greater influence than bacterial inoculation on plant growth, nitrogen fixation and nutrient uptake of plant (Neumann et al., 2012). This is due to the presence of rhizobium inoculation which promotes vegetative growth then it encourages shoot. Several authors also reported the positive effect of S and Zn application promotes in shoot dry weight (Hussain *et al., 2011*). Many authors have reported that legume nodules having dark pink or red colors due to presence of leg hemoglobin are an indication for effectiveness of the Rhizobial strains used, which is well correlated with nitrogen fixation (Butler and Evers, 2004)

Sustainable production depends upon the manipulation of all genetic and environmental factors that influence crops by exploiting high yielding varieties and manipulation of its symbiotic system. The plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) induce plant's nutrient acquisition, disease tolerance and play a vital role in crop yield (Lugtenberg and Kamilova, 2009). This result was in line with Nodule counts were recorded and overall inoculation enhanced the nodulation of chickpea, though the nodule counts vary in the different inoculated variety. Nodule counts of 22–48 per plant were recorded in the inoculated treatments whereas

this varied from 6 to 21 in non-inoculated control plots (variety) (Lema *et al.*, 2013). Growth and yield of the plant have been improved by repeated inoculation of highly effective rhizobia (Hynes *et al.*, 2009) and/or co-inoculation with PGPR (Ganeshamurthy *et al.*, 2011). The colour of nodules from un-inoculated was pink and green in chickpea (Romdhane *et al.*, 2009).

Implementation of PGPR based biofertilizer technology presents economic, environmental and agronomic benefits and could be used to a larger degree to partially replace the synthetic fertilizers (Adesemoye and Kloepper, 2009) to improve economic yield under natural conditions. Repeated incorporation of rhizobia with more effective strains coupled with the addition of "helper bacteria" can add to the BNF of the crop. Strain x variety interaction is as important as that of strain or crop variety alone (Abi-Ghanem *et al.*, 2011). Selection of best microbial strains and plant variety is important because a strong effect of cultivar x microbe has been reported on BNF in soybean (Israel *et al.*, 1995), beans, lentils and peas (Abi-Ghanem *et al.*, 2011).

Strain x nutrient interaction is also important. According to Endalkachew *et al.* (2018) increased chickpea grain yield due to application of P was evident on most target farms, with only few exceptions where yields on inoculated plots were similar or inferior to those on the corresponding control plots. However, grain yields on control plots and responses to the treatments on individual farms varied greatly. Thus, observed yield on control plots ranged from 521 to 3054 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, whereas the yields with P and/or Inoculation ranged from 640 to 4500 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. These yields can be considered with reference to the national average yield, which is currently about 1800 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (CSA, 2016)

### **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.1**. Description of the Experimental Site

The study was conducted in Meskan District which is situated in the Gurage Zone of the Southern Nations, Nationalities and Peoples Regional State. The study was particularly conducted at Yimer-Wachosositgna Kebele Farmers Training Center in the 2017/2018 main cropping season. The site is geographically located at 139 km South of Addis Ababa at an elevation of 1800 meters above sea level latitude of 08° 06' 0944"N and longitude of 38° 22' 341" E. Rainfall distribution is bimodal where the short rainy season is from March to May and the long rainy season is from June to October. The experimental site receives an average rain fall of 1001-1200 mm with a temperature range between 7.5 to 17.5 °C. The site has clay loam soil texture with a pH value of 6.83 (Table 1).

#### 3.2. Experimental Material

#### 3.2.1. Chickpea varieties

The experimental materials included two chickpea varieties, namely *Arerti* and *Habru*, which were selected from among the top high yielding chickpea varieties released by Debre Zeit Agricultural Research Centre (DZARC). Both varieties are Kabuli type. Table 1 presents description of the varieties used for the experiment at Meskan in 2017/18 main cropping season.

Variety	Туре	Year	Area of adaptation					Yield (kg/ha)		Prod
		of			Maturity	Seed	Seed			uctio
		releas			day	color	size			n
		e								status
			Altitude (m)	Rainfall				On	On	
								resear	farm	
								ch		
Arerti	Kabul	1999	1800-2600	700-1200	105-155	White	Medium	1600-	1800-	under
	i							5200	4700	prod
										uctio
Habru	Kabul	2004	1800-2600	700-1200	91-150	White	Large	1400-		n
	i							5000		

Table 1. Description of varieties used in the present study

Source:- Debre Zeit Agricultural Research Center (2004)

#### 3.2.2. NPSB blended fertilizer

NPSB blended fertilizer (N = 18.9 kg,  $P_2O_5 = 37.7$  kg, S = 6.95 kg, B = 0.1 kg) was used as an inorganic fertilizer.

#### 3.2.3. Inoculant

A Rhizobium inoculant (CP-17) known to be the best strain for chickpea in relation to agronomic and yield performance was collected from Holeta Agricultural Research Center.

#### 3.3. Treatment and Experimental Design

The experiment had three factors. Factor one was NPSB blended fertilizer (0, 30, 60 and 90 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to 0, 33.3%, 66.6%, 100% of the recommended), factor two was variety (Arerti and Habru) and factor three was Rhizobium inoculation (with inoculation and without inoculation). The treatments were arranged in a  $4 \times 2 \times 2$  factorial combination in randomized complete block design with three replications. According to the stipulations of the design, each treatment was assigned randomly to the respective experimental units within a block and the total number of treatments combinations was 16. The size of each experimental plot was 5.4 m<sup>2</sup> (3 m×1.8 m) with six rows of chickpea (each 3 m long) and inter and intera- row spacing of 30 cm and 10 cm, respectively. The total experimental area was 676 m<sup>2</sup> (65 m x 10.4 m). There were 6 rows per plot, 30 plants per row and total 180 number of plants per plot. A net plot size 2.8 m×1.2 m (3.36 m<sup>2</sup>) was used for the final harvest. The spacing between each plot and block was 1 m and 1.5 m, respectively.

#### **3.4. Experimental Procedures and Trial Management**

Land preparation was done according to the local farmers practice. Thus, the land was ploughed four times using oxen before planting and the last plough was done as farmers practice before sowing to make it ready for sowing and insuring seedbeds are well leveled. Sowing was done on August 19, 2018 by putting two seeds per 10 cm interval and was thinned to one plant after emergence of the seediling and 30 cm between row.

Rhizobium ciceri, strain (CP-17), was selected and used because of its ability to enhance nodulation and grain yield under wide ecological conditions of chickpea. These strains have been tested under a wide range of ecological conditions in Ethiopia (Tena *et al.*, 2016). Seeds

were inoculated at the rate of 5 g of inoculant per kg of seed. Therefore 7.776 g of the inoculant was used at sowing for seed inoculating purpose. Seed inoculation was performed before sowing using the procedure developed by Fatima *et al.* (2007). To make sure the sticking of the applied inoculant to the seeds, the required quantity of seed was suspended in 1:1 ratio in 10% sugar solution and allow to air dry for a few minutes and then the inoculated seeds were sown at suggested rate and spacing to the respective plots. To avoid contamination, plots with un-inoculated seeds were planted first followed by the inoculated ones. Application of the blended fertilizer was done at the time of sowing in a furrow, 5 cm away from the row and covered with soil after application. Other agronomic practices pertaining to the crop have been kept uniform and carried out as per the recommendation (MoAG).

#### **3.5. Soil Sampling and Analysis**

Before planting, one composite soil sample from the experimental site was collected in a zigzag pattern from the depth of 0-30 cm. Uniform volume of soil was obtained in each subsample by vertical insertion of an auger. The soil was air dried to a constant weight, ground by using a pestle and mortar and allowed to pass through a 2 mm sieve. Working samples were obtained from each submitted samples and analyzed for organic carbon, total N, soil pH, available phosphorus, cation exchange capacity (CEC) and textural analysis using standard laboratory procedures at Debre zeit Agricultural Research Center's soil Laboratory.

Analysis of particle size distribution was done by hydrometer method (differential settling within a water column) according to FAO (2008, and classified into clay, silt and sand. The pH of the soil was determined according to FAO (2008) using 1:2.5 (weight or volume) soil sample to water ratio using a glass electrode attached to a digital pH meter. Organic carbon content was determined using Walkley and Black's (1934) method. Total nitrogen (TN) was analyzed by Micro- Kjeldhal digestion method with sulphuric acid (Dewis and Freitas, 1975). Available phosphorus was determined by the Olsen's method using a spectrophotometer (Olsen *et al.*, 1954). Cation exchange capacity (CEC) was determined after saturating the soil with 1N ammonium acetate (NH4OAc) and displacing it with 1N NaOAc (Chapman, 1965)

#### **3.6. Data collection parameters**

#### 3.6.1. Physico-Chemical Soil Properties of the Experimental Site

Texture is an important soil physical characteristic because it determines water intake rate (infiltration), water holding capacity in the soil, the ease of tilling, the amount of aeration, and also influence soil fertility. It is one of the inherent soil properties and less affected by management and which determines nutrient status, organic matter content, air circulation and water holding capacity of a given soil (FAO, 2000). The results from analysis of top 30 cm deep surface soil of the experimental site (Table 2) indicated that the soil is clay in texture with pH of 6.58 organic carbon of 1.6% total N content of 0.12(%), available P content of  $25.24 \ \mu g \ g^{-1}$  available S content of 18.6(ppm), and CEC 39.04 cmol (+)/kg soil<sup>-1</sup>.

According to the rating of Tekalign (1991), soil pH is classified as very strongly acidic (< 4.5), strongly acidic (4.5-5.2), moderately acidic (5.3-5.9), slightly acidic (6.0-6.6), neutral (6.7-7.3), moderately alkaline (7.4-8.0) and strongly alkaline (>8.0). Based on this classification, the pH of the soil of the study site (6.58) is slightly acidic at the study area. The same authors classified soil organic carbon content of very low (<0.86), low (0.86-2.59), moderate (2.59-5.17) and high (>5.17). According to this classification, the study site had low OC content before sowing (Landon 1991). The soil texture was found to be clay.

According to Havlin *et al.* (1999), total nitrogen content (TN) of a soil can be classified as very low (<0.1%), low (0.1-0.15%), medium (0.15- 0.25%), and high (>0.25%). According to this classification, the total nitrogen content of the soils of the study site was found to be low in total nitrogen content (Table 2).

Indicative ranges of available phosphorus have been established by Olsen et al. (1954), including < 5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (very low), 5-15 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (low), 15-25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (medium) and > 25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> of soil (high). Based on this criterion, the available phosphorus content of the site was low. The cation exchange capacity (CEC) is referred to be low (5-15 cmol kg<sup>-1</sup>), medium (15-25 cmol kg<sup>-1</sup>), and high (25-40 cmol kg<sup>-1</sup>). For this parameter, soils of experimental field had high CEC (Table 2). The nutrient class range for sulfur identified by Karltun (2013) indicated that soils containing >100, 80-100, 20-80, 10-20, <10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> of sulfur ranging as very high, high, medium, low and very low, respectively. Thus, the experimental soil is low in

available S(18.6). Similarly, the extractable B (0.67 mg/kg) is also bellow the critical level (0.8 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> soil) in accordance with Karltun *et al.* (2013) (Table 2).

Parameter	Texture	рН	TN (%)	OC (%)	Av.P (ppm)	Av.S (ppm)	<b>B</b> (mg/kg)	CEC ( cmolkg <sup>-1</sup> )
Value	Clay	6.58	0.12	1.6	14.23	18.6,	0.67	39.04

Table 2. Physico-chemical analysis result of soil experimental site

Where Cmol = Cent mole, pH = hydrogen power, OC (%) = percent of organic carbon, T N = Percent of total nitrogen, Av.p (ppm) = available P in parts per million, Av. S = Available sulphur, CEC = Cation exchange capacity.

#### 3.6.2. Crop phenology

Days to 50% flowering (DF): DF was recorded as number of days from emergence to the time when 50 percent of the plant population in each plot produce flowers (Janagrad*et al.*, 2009).

**Days to maturity (DM):** Number of days from emergence to physiological maturity was recorded when 90% of the plants per plot had turned golden yellow and 90% of the plants had their pods filled with seeds and hardened by touching (Masumba,1984).

#### **3.6.3.** Growth parameter

**Plant height:** Five plants were randomly taken from the four middle rows, and their height from the ground to the tip was measured using a ruler at physiological maturity and average value was taken.

**Leaf area**: Leaf area was determined by measuring the area of three leaves from top, middle and lower parts of three plants randomly selected from each plots using CI-202 portable area meter (CID, inc. U.S.A).

**Number of primary branches (NPB)**: From the five randomly uprooted plants the number of primary branches were counted and averaged to determine number of branches per plant (NPB/plant).

Shoot dry weight (SDW): After measuring the shoot fresh weight, the plants was kept at  $65^{0}$ C in oven until getting constant weight. The mean value from five plants was taken as shoot dry weight per plant.

**Root dry weight (RDW)**: Five plants were taken for determination of the dry weight of roots at flowering. After taking the fresh weight of root parts, the sample were dried in an oven at 65°C to constant weight and then the dry weight was measured using sensitive balance and average of the plant root was taken (g).

#### 3.6.4. Nodulation parameter

For determining of nodulation parameters sampling was performed by number of plants per sample excavating the roots of plants randomly from two central rows of each plot at 50% flowering stage of the crop. Uprooting was done by spade and shovel and soil was removed from the root system by hand. The adhering soil was removed by washing the roots gently with water over a metal sieve. Nodules remaining in the soil were picked up by hand. The plants from each plot were used to record the following observations.

- **1. Total number of nodules per plant:** This parameter was determined as the total number of nodules per plant and was recorded at 50% flowering from five randomly selected plants from four interior rows of each plot.
- **2. Nodule dry weight per plant:** The collected nodules was labeled and placed in perforated paper bags. The nodule dry weight per plant was measured after drying the collected nodules in an oven with a temperature of 65 °C for 48 hrs. The average of five plants were taken as a nodule dry weight per plant
- **3. Number of effective nodules per plant**: After dissecting nodule with pink to brown color were considered as effective and those with green and white color nodules were sorted as non-effective nodules.

#### 3.6.5. Yield and yield components

- **1. Number of seeds per pod**: From five arbitrarily taken plants five pods were separated and threshed and then number of seeds was counted from five pods per plant and total number of pods to calculate average number of seeds per pod divided total number of seeds.
- **2. Harvest index (HI):** Harvest index per plot was calculated as the ratio of dry seed yield per plot to the above ground dry biomass yield per plot.

 $(Harvest Index)(\%) = \frac{Dry Seed \ yield (g) \ perplot}{Above \ ground \ dry \ biomass \ yield \ per \ plot(g)} * 100$ 

The total above ground dry biomass of 5 randomly selected plants was tagged and the older leaves were composed prior to dropping and kept till physiological maturity. Finally tagged plants have been harvested close to the soil surface at physiological maturity and oven dried to a steady weight. Then the biomass yield per five plants was transformed to per hectare and expressed in ton ha<sup>-1</sup>.

**3. Number of pods per plant:** Number of pods for the five plants was counted and then the mean number of pods per plant was obtained at physiological maturity

**4. Grain yield per plant (kg ha<sup>-1</sup>):** Four rows from center of each plot were harvested and threshed to determine crop yield and then the seeds were adjusted to moisture level of 10%. Finally, the yield per plot was converted to kilogram per hectare (Hong and Ellis, 1996)

$$Adjusted Yield = \frac{(100 - mc) \times unadjusted yield}{100 - 10}$$

**5. Hundred seed weight:** This was recorded by weighing 100 randomly taken dry seeds harvested from the net plot using a sensitive balance and the weight was adjusted to 10% seed moisture content.

**6.** Agronomic efficiency (AE) of the fertilizer: AE of the blended fertilizer was estimated from grain yield of fertilized and unfertilized (control) plots as:

$$AE (kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{GF - GU}{NA}$$

Where: Gf = the grain yield of the fertilized plot (kg), Gu = grain yield of the unfertilized plot (kg), and NA = quantity of fertilizer applied (kg) (Fageria and Baligar 2005)

#### 3.7. Data Analysis

All the collected data were first checked for meeting the Analysis of variance (ANOVA) assumptions these were normality, additivity ,independent and homogeneity and then subjected to ANOVA using SAS 9.3. ANOVA was run following the GLM procedure of SAS

and the interpretation was made following the procedure described by Montgomery (2014). Whenever ANOVA showed significant differences between treatments, Least Significance Difference (LSD<sub>5%</sub>) test was used to separate and compare means.

#### **3.8. Economic Analysis**

The economic effect of NPSB blended fertilizer application and inoculant use on chickpea was evaluated using a partial budget analysis. Inorganic NPSB blended fertilizer and *Rhizobium* inoculant costs were considered as the variable costs. An economic assessment was done using partial budget procedure described by CIMMYT (1988). The variable costs of NPSB fertilizer ETB 1300 per 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> and *Rhizobium* inoculant at time of planting were taken from Holeta Agricultural Research Center. The price of the current chickpea grain at harvest (ETB 2100 per 100 kg) was taken from Office of Trade and Industry Marketing Case Team of Meskan District and local wage rate of ETB 50 person<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>. The average yield was adjusted downward by 10% to reflect the farmer's field yield as described by CIMMYT (1988), while the marginal rate of return for each blended NPSB blended fertilizer rate was calculated as a change of net benefit divided by change of variable cost and multiplied by100 (CIMMYT, 1988).
# **4. RESULT AND DISCUSSION**

## **4.1. Crop Phenology**

## 4.1.1. Days to 50% flowering

ANOVA showed that days to 50% flowering was highly significant (P<0.01) affected by the two way interaction of variety and blended fertilizer rate; whereas, main effect of variety, rates of NPSB fertilizer, rhizobium inoculation and the two way interactions between rhizobium inoculation and rates of NPSB fertilizer and variety and rhizobium inoculation as well as the three way interaction between variety, inoculation and blended fertilizer had nonsignificant effect on day rates to 50% flowering (Appendix Table 1).

Thus, variety Habru treated with 60 kg NPSB  $ha^{-1}$  was earlier (49.17 days) to flower which was statistically in parity with the effect of the same variety at 30 and 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>) and The longest days to 50% flowering (55.67) was observed on variety Arerti without fertilizer application(Table 3). The data obtained in this study revealed that with an increase in the rate of the blended fertilizer date of flowering was faster (Table 3). This might be attributed to variation in the genetic makeup among cultivars/ relating to their inherent phenological setups and the effect of phosphorus in NPSB blended fertilizer on enzymatic activity and hormones responsible in flower initiation. Moreover, significant variations among different levels of NPSB application might be due to enhancing property of (NPSB) in many aspects of plant physiology like process of photosynthesis, flowering, seed formation and maturation. This means that time of beginning of flowering is always delayed by P deficiency; with acute deficiency many plants might be died before flowering. This agrees with Shabeer et al.(2015) who reported that significant variation in what was observed by application of different level of phosphorus for different variety of chickpea and also application of p promotes earliness. In addition, Liu *et al.* (2005) who have reported that boron increases soya bean photosynthesis rate.

The present finding corroborates the findings of Acharya *et al.* (2007) who observed that phosphatic fertilizer promotes flowering, seed formation and crop maturity. In addition to this, nitrogen deficiency induces an early end of pea flowering (Sagan *et al.*, 1993).

Delay in flowering time may encounter the variety to drought, and this character may be also used as an integrative trait to identify which type of chickpea should be grown in the face of drought (Tesfahun *et al.*, 2018). It might be attributed to the fact that flowering time in chickpea is considered to be varietal specific, which is genetically controlled. Previous studies showed that the differential response to flowering among varieties was distinct. For instance, Tripathi *et al.* (2013) reported differences among varieties of chickpea in days to 50% flowering. Similarly, the variation may also be due to stimulatory effect of phosphorus on growth hormones, induce early flowering in chickpea. This result was in line with the findings of Wondimu *et al.* (2008) who reported that increasing the NP application rate from 0 kg N, 0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> to 36 kg N, 92 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> significantly shortened the time required to attain 50% flowering (Mahmood and Honermeier, 2012).

However, Tewari *et al.* (2010) who reported no significant effects of P application on number of days to reach 50% flowering on common bean. Similarly, Tesfaye *et al.* (2016) also reported that interaction of P with variety to be non-significant in common bean (Zhou et al., 2011). Apart from this, the micronutrients also play an important role in regulating plant metabolic processes. Such as Boron is an important micronutrient plays role in carbohydrate metabolism, flower retention, pollen fertility and germination, pod setting, seed development, yield and its components. Thus, the requirement of boron appears more essential for reproductive development than vegetative (Nalini , 2013).

Level ofVarietyFertilizer(kgha <sup>-1</sup> )		Date of Flowering			
Arerti	0	55.67 <sup>a</sup>			
Arerti	30	51.67 <sup>b</sup>			
Arerti	60	50.00 <sup>c</sup>			
Arerti	90	49.33 <sup>c</sup>			
Habru	0	51.67 <sup>b</sup>			
Habru	30	49.33 <sup>c</sup>			
Habru	60	49.17 <sup>c</sup>			
Habru	90	49.83 <sup>c</sup>			
	LSD (5%)	0.98			
	CV(%)	2.93			

Table 3. Chickpea date of 50% flowering as influenced by interaction effect of variety and rate of NPSB blended fertilizer at Meskan in 2017/18

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P>0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD= Least significant difference, CV = Coefficient of variation,

## 4.1.2. Days to 90% maturity

ANOVA showed a highly significant difference (P <0.01) for days to 90% maturity due to the main effects of inoculation, variety and their interactions. On the other hand the main effect of rate of NPSB fertilizer, the rest of two way interaction as well as the three way interaction on days to 90% Maturity had nonsignificant (Appendix Table 1)

The number of days to reach 90% physiological maturity for the two varieties (Arerti and Habru) was modified by inoculation for sample took 119 days under inoculation compared to 117.83 days without inoculation(Table 4). The possible reason for delayed physiological maturity of chickpea variety with seed inoculation might be due to varietal difference in their response to inoculation and effect of *Rhizobium* inoculants led to higher nitrogen fixation that in turn increased N uptake by plants as the result improved vegetative growth of chickpea. In agreement with this result, Gan *et al.* (2010) reported delayed maturity with inoculation of

chickpea. Similarly, Beza *et al.* (2017) reported the rhizobium inoculated seeds were lately mature whereas; uninoculated seed were early matured.

Variety <sup>a</sup>	*Inoculation	Date of maturity (90 %)				
Arerti	Without	117.83 <sup>a</sup>				
Arerti	with	119.08 <sup>a</sup>				
Habru	Without	112.33 <sup>b</sup>				
Habru	with	119.42 <sup>a</sup>				
LSD (5	%)	3.29				
CV (%	<b>(0)</b>	3.33				

Table 4. Chickpea Date of maturity as influenced by interaction effect of inoculation and varieties at Meskan in2017/18.

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P>0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD=Least significant difference, CV = Coefficient of variation

# 4.2. Growth Parameters

# 4.2.1. Plant height

The analysis of variance showed highly significant (P<0.01) effects of the three way interaction of variety x blended fertilizer rate x *Rhizobium* inoculation, main effect of rhizobium inoculation, rates of NPSB fertilizer and two way interactions on plant height. Whereas, the two way interactions of inoculations and rate of blended fertilizer and variety had non significant effect on plant height (Appendix Table-1).

Thus, the tallest plant height (43.27cm) was recorded for variety Habru at 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with seed inoculation. while the shortest plant height (36.67cm) was recorded for the variety Arerti treated without inoculation (+ 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>)(Table 6). This signified that increase in plant height in response to the increased P application rate in blended NPSB might be due to the maximum vegetative growth of the plants under higher P availability, N (in NPSB) can be

helpful in improving growth and development of chickpea and Sulfur is also a major component of ferreoxin in chloroplast which is relevant for the proper photosynthetic activity.

Tomar *et al.* (2004) found the positive interaction effect of P and S. Furthermore, the presence of boron in the blended fertilizer might have also significantly increased plant height due to it plays important role in the cell division and nitrogen absorption from the soil, enhancing plant growth eventually plant height increased. This result is in agreement with the result done by Sutharsan *et al.* (2016) who reported that plant height decreased with decreasing rate of nitrogen level in combined application of nutrients.

## 4.2.2. Number of primary branches

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed that number of primary branches of chickpea was significantly (P<0.05) influenced by the two way interactions of blended fertilizer rate and *Rhizobium* inoculants. On the other hand, all the rest interaction and main effects had non significant effects on number of branches (Appendix Table 1).

Branching is basically a genetic character and plays an important role in enhancing seed yield. The plot received 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> and rhizobium inoculation produced the highest (3.75) number of primary branches per plant which is statically similar with 30,60kg blended fertilizer rates with inoculation and 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilizer without inoculation(Table 5). While, the plot received 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>+without rhizobium inoculation produced the lowest (3.28) number of primary branches per plant. This might be due to the fact that lack of the available growth resources and more competition of the limited nutrition resources for branching as on the other hand, optimal supply of P in the early stage of plant growth enhanced the crop lateral growth. On the other hand, the possible reason for lower number of primary branches per plant at 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> might be due to the fact that the legumes require phosphorus for optimal symbiotic performance.

The current result is in accordance with those findings of Dutta and Bandyopadhyay (2009) and Ahmed *et al.* (2010) who reported positive and significant effects of inoculation and P fertilization on the number of branches of chickpea. Similarly, Chalk *et al.* (2010) reported

that legume growth and the function of the legume and *Rhizobium* symbiosis might be affected by a multitude of nutrient disorders, including both deficiencies and toxicities.

NPSB Fertilizer(kg/ha)	Inoculation	Number of primary branches
0	without	3.28 <sup>b</sup>
30	without	3.50 <sup>ab</sup>
60	without	3.4 <sup>bab</sup>
90	without	3.32 <sup>b</sup>
0	with	3.40 <sup>ab</sup>
30	with	3.30 <sup>b</sup>
60	with	3.37 <sup>b</sup>
90	with	3.75 <sup>a</sup>
L	SD (5%)	0.36
	CV(%)	9.15

Table 5. Chickpea number of primary branches as influenced by interaction effect of inoculation with rates of NPSB fertilizer at Meskan in2017/18

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD=Least significant difference, CV=Coefficient of variation

### 4.2.3. Leaf area

The analysis of variance(ANOVA) showed the leaf area of chickpea was significantly (P<0.01) influenced by main effect of rhizobium inoculation and the three way interaction of variety, rate of NPSB blended fertilizer and *rhizobium* inoculants. whereas, main effect of variety and rates of NPSB fertilizer two way interaction of variety and inoculation and variety and fertilizer and two way interaction of variety and inoculation and variety fertilizer had non significant effect on leaf area of chickpea (Appendix Table 1).

In all treatments, leaf area (LA) was highest with Rhizobium inoculation and with increased rate of NPSB blended fertilizer (Table 6). Thus, the highest (30.60cm<sup>2</sup>) value of LA was recorded at the interaction 90kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>, Habru variety with rhizobium inoculation; whereas, the lowest (17.88 cm<sup>2</sup>) LA was recorded from control without inoculation and

fertilization treatment which reduces LA by 58.43%. This implies that the increase in leaf area at 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> might be due to phosphorus which is required in relatively large amounts by legumes and also the possible reason for LA increment at interaction could be due to the positive effect of inoculants and increased with the growth of N fertilizer rate in NPSB on biological and chemical characteristics of soil nutrient and water absorption by the root.

So, the current study is in line with the increasing of LA was attributed to the rise in leaf number and total leaf area per plant (Kibe *et al.*, 2006). Plants that were treated with 0 kg urea  $ha^{-1}$  showed the lowest LA at both levels of inoculation. Similarly, the lowest LAI was recorded at zero fertilizer application which is in agreement with findings of (Faisalabad *et al.*, 2010). The depletion of LA at the later stages was possibly due to the senescence and falling of older leaves. Similar results were also reported by Malik *et al.* (2006).

### 4.2.4. Shoot dry weight

The analysis of variance(ANOVA) showed that all the main, two way and the three-way interaction of varieties, rhizobium inoculation and different levels of blended NPSB fertilizer showed highly significant (P<0.01) variation for shoot dry weight of chickpea per plant (Appendix Table 1).

The dry weight of shoot increased due to Rhizobium inoculation. In general, regardless of the inoculation applied, thus considerably highest shoot dry weight of 11.33g per plant was recorded with highest rates of application of blended fertilizer (60 and 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>)with rhizobium inoculation from variety Habru followed by 10.43g recorded with highest application of 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with rhizobium inoculation from same variety. But, the lowest (4.23g), (4.43g) and (4.63g) of shoot dry weight was recorded without application of NPSB and without rhizobium inoculation (control) from variety Arerti (Table 6). The data showed that shoot dry weight at the experimental site was higher due to the moisture availability at the time of sowing could result in better germination and ultimately good crop stand and higher shoot dry weight as well as application of nitrogen through NPSB fertilizer

In general, shoot dry weight exhibited an increasing trend of the plant inoculated and NPSB blended fertilizer treated. Significantly the highest (11.33 g plant-1) shoot dry weight was found from inoculated seed, which resulted in 62.66 % increase over the control check. This is due to

the presence of rhizobium inoculation which promotes vegetative growth. In line with this finding, several authors also reported the positive effect of S and Zn application promotes in shoot dry weight (Hussain *et al.*, 2011).

Similarly, the increment in number of branches per plant might be importance of P for cell division activity, leading to the increase of plant height and number of branches and consequently increased the plant dry weight (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2007).

#### 4.2.5. Root dry weight

The analysis of variance(ANOVA) showed that all the main, two way and the three-way interaction of varieties, rhizobium inoculation and different levels of blended NPSB fertilizer showed highly significant (P<0.01) variation for root dry weight of chickpea per plant (Appendix Table 1).

The dry weight of root increased due to Rhizobium inoculation. In general, regardless of the inoculation applied, thus considerably highest root dry weight of 3.19 g per plant was recorded with highest rates of application of blended fertilizer (60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>)with rhizobium inoculation from variety Habru. But, the lowest (2.26 g) of root dry weight was recorded without application of NPSB and without rhizobium inoculation from variety Habru (Table 6). The data showed that root dry weight at the experimental site was higher due to the moisture availability at the time of sowing could result in better germination and ultimately good crop stand and higher shoot dry weight as well as application of nitrogen through NPSB fertilizer. In agreement with this finding, several authors also reported the positive effect of S and Zn application promotes in shoot dry weight (Hussain *et al.*, 2011).

Variety	Inoc	Fertilizer (kgha <sup>-1</sup> )	PLH (cm)	LA(cm <sup>2</sup> )	SDW (gm)	RDW(gm)
Arerti	without	0	36.67 <sup>e</sup>	17.88 <sup>i</sup>	4.43 <sup>g</sup>	2.67 bcd
		30	38.53 <sup>cd</sup>	26.07 <sup>abcdef</sup>	6.13 <sup>f</sup>	3.12 <sup>a</sup>
		60	39.73 <sup>cb</sup>	21.34 fghi	6.30 <sup>fe</sup>	2.67 bcd
		90	37.73 <sup>ed</sup>	29.89 <sup>abc</sup>	6.77 <sup>def</sup>	2.62 <sup>bcd</sup>
Arerti	with	0	40.60 <sup>b</sup>	23.76 <sup>defghi</sup>	4.23 <sup>g</sup>	2.74 <sup>abcd</sup>
		30	40.67 <sup>b</sup>	24.55 <sup>bcdefgh</sup>	7.23 <sup>cde</sup>	2.43 <sup>bcd</sup>
		60	40.87 <sup>b</sup>	29.43 <sup>abcd</sup>	7.43 <sup>cd</sup>	3.00 <sup>abc</sup>
		90	40.63 <sup>b</sup>	27.37 <sup>abcde</sup>	8.03 <sup>c</sup>	2.68 <sup>bcd</sup>
Habru	without	0	38.40 <sup>cd</sup>	19.90 <sup>ghi</sup>	4.63 <sup>g</sup>	2.26 <sup>d</sup>
		30	39.00 <sup>cd</sup>	25.75 <sup>bcdefg</sup>	6.23 <sup>f</sup>	2. 74 <sup>bcd</sup>
		60	38.93 <sup>cd</sup>	24.12 <sup>cdefg</sup>	7.23 <sup>cde</sup>	2.41 <sup>cd</sup>
		90	40.80 <sup>b</sup>	19.65 <sup>hi</sup>	5.90 <sup>f</sup>	2.92 abc
Habru	with	0	40.50 <sup>b</sup>	30.46 <sup>ab</sup>	5.93 <sup>f</sup>	3.00 <sup>ab</sup>
110010		30	40.70 <sup>b</sup>	23.06 <sup>efghi</sup>	9.83 <sup>b</sup>	3.07 <sup>a</sup>
		60	40.60 <sup>b</sup>	23.54 <sup>defghi</sup>	11.33 <sup>a</sup>	3.19 <sup>a</sup>
		90	43.27ª	30.60 <sup>a</sup>	10.43 <sup>ab</sup>	2.81 <sup>b cd</sup>
LSD(5	%)		1.45	5.96	4.95	0.59
CV(%	<b>(</b> 0)		2.92	14.43	8.56	12.99

Table 6 : Growth of chickpea as influenced by Rhizobium inoculation, variety and NPSB blended fertilizer rates at meskan in 2017/18

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD= Least significant difference, CV= Coefficient of variation PLH= plant height, LA=leaf area, SDW= shoot dry weigh, RDW=root dry weight.

# 4.2.2. Nodule parameters

## 4.2.2.1. Nodule number

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed that the main effect of variety, rhizobium inoculation, rates of NPSB fertilizer as well as the two way interaction of variety and inoculation had significant (P<0.05) on number of nodule per plant. while, the remaining two ways and three way interaction of inoculation and rates of NPSB and variety and rates of NPSB fertilizer had no significant effect on number of nodule per plant (Appendix Table 2)

Thus, the highest number of total nodules per plant (38.74) was obtained from the application of blended NPSB rate of 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> .while, the lowest number of total nodules (27.13) was recorded from application of blended 0 and 30kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilizer (Table 7). This implies that as the levels of soil nitrogen from application of nitrogen in NPSB fertilization increase and nitrogen fixation derived probably from better inoculation cause and the number of nodules increase which might be due to better root development with increasing levels of these nutrients.

The increase in number of total nodules up to 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> might also be due to phosphorus which is required in relatively large amounts by legumes for growth and to promote leaf area, biomass, yield, nodule number and nodule mass in different legumes. Consistent with this result of Amare *et al.* (2014) who reported that nodule number was significantly increased with increasing levels of phosphorus with the lowest (12.89) and the highest (31.85) numbers in common bean obtained from the control treatment and application of 20 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Yadav (2011) reported the synergistic effect of phosphorus and sulphur on number and weight of nodules per plant with the maximum number of nodules per plant was recorded at the highest level of phosphorus (40 kg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>) along with sulphur (20 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup>) on cluster bean.

This result is similar with the finding of Lema *et al.* (2013) who reported N and P fertilizer have significantly affected the NNP and NDWP of chickpea relative to the control. The highest NNP and NDWP were obtained from 11.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> followed by 23 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> treatments. While, the least NNP and NDWP were recorded in the untreated control (N0) treatment. The result implies that both N treatments had stimulating effect on nodulation of chickpea (Lema *et al.*, 2013) that application of starter dose of N fertilizer to legumes enhances nodulation and N-fixation by symbiotic N-fixing bacteria (Thaku *et al.* 1989; Giller and Cadisch, 1995). Similarly, P treatments produced significantly higher NNP and NDP in chickpea compared with the control (P0). This is due to the presence of Rhizobium inoculation. This result was proportionate with Nodule counts were recorded and overall inoculation enhanced the nodulation of chickpea, though the nodule counts vary in the different inoculated variety. Nodule counts of 22–48 per plant were recorded in the Inoculated treatments whereas this varied from 6 to 21 in non-inoculated control plots (variety) (Lema *et* 

*al.*, 2013). This might suggest the presence of inferior naturally existing inoculant bacteria which made the association, Similarly Nodule number and nodule dry mass were significantly affected by various levels of NPSZnB applications increase number of nodule per plant and heavier dry mass of nodule were obtained with NPSZnB blended fertilizer applications increase and decrease the number of nodule per plant in common bean and lighter dry mass of nodule were obtained with 0 kg NPSZnB ha<sup>-1</sup> blended fertilizer applications(Lake and Jemaludin,2018). This result agreed with the finding of Tsai *et al.*, (1993) that reported application of nitrogen in the range of 22 to 33 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> enhanced nodulation

Regarding interaction of varieties and inoculation, the highest number of nodules per plant (45.93) was recorded from variety Habru with rhizobium inoculation. However, the lowest number of nodules (20.29) was obtained from Arerti variety without inoculation(table-7). This implies the fact that inoculated Habru variety produced the highest number of nodules per plant might be related with vigorous growth habit of the variety to establish more roots than Arerti variety. Vigorously growing Habru variety required more nitrogen for producing the highest number of primary and secondary branches hence due to high N requirement of the variety root growth and number of nodule production would be promoted. In agreement with Beza (2017) the highest nodule number per plant (15.7) from the combined application of 15 kg S and 1.5 kg Zn ha<sup>-1</sup> while the lowest (10.9) was from *Rhizobium* inoculation and 1.5 kg Zn ha<sup>-1</sup>.

	Number of nodule per plant
NPSB Fertilizer(kgha <sup>-1</sup> )	
0	24.77 <sup>c</sup>
30	27.13 <sup>c</sup>
60	33.10 <sup>b</sup>
90	38.74 <sup>a</sup>
LSD(5%)	5.36
Variety* Inoculation	weding
Arerti without	20.29°
Arerti with	20.29° 35.84 <sup>b</sup>
	35.84 <sup>b</sup> 21.696
Habru without	$21.68^{\circ}$
Habru with	45.93 <sup>a</sup>
	45.93*
LSD( 5%)	6.90
CV(%)	20.78

Table 7: Numbers of nodules per plant of chickpea as affected by NPSB blended fertilizer rates and interaction of Rhizobium inoculants with variety at Meskan District in 2017/18

Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at P>0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD= Least significant difference, CV = Coefficient of variation

## 4.2.2.2. Nodule fresh weight

The analysis of variance showed the two way interaction effect of Rhizobium inoculation and blended NPSB fertilizer rate, variety and Rhizobium inoculation and variety blended NPSB fertilizer rate and the three way interaction of variety by inoculation by different levels of blended NPSB fertilizer showed highly significant (P<0.01) effects on nodule fresh weight. However, the main effect of variety had non significant effect on nodule fresh weight of chickpea per plant(Appendix Table 2)

Regarding the three way interaction the highest number of nodules fresh weight (18.99) was recorded from variety habru with rhizobium inoculation and application rate of 90kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> However, the lowest number of nodules fresh weight (3.94 and 3.82) were obtained from Arerti and Habru variety without inoculation., respectively (table 8). This could be differential response of genotype to the interaction effect of NPSB fertilizer rate and *Rhizobium* inoculants that eventually led to higher dry weight of total nodules through increased BNF availability. In agreement with Beza (2017) the presence of P application with *Rhizobium* 

strains that individually or in combination affected root development, nodule weight per plant and nitrogen fixation parameters.

Table 8. Nodules fresh weight of chickpea as affected by the three way of variety, Rhizobium inoculation and rates of NPSB blended fertilizer and interaction of with variety at Meskan District in 2017/18

Variety	Inoculation	Fertilizer(Kg/ha)	Nodule fresh	
			weight	
Arerti	without	0	3.94 <sup>g</sup>	
		30	4.25 <sup>g</sup>	
		60	7.80 <sup>ef</sup>	
		90	12.35 <sup>bc</sup>	
Arerti	with	0	5.41 <sup>fg</sup>	
		30	11.94 <sup>cd</sup>	
		60	14.61 <sup>b</sup>	
		90	9.23 <sup>e</sup>	
Habru	without	0	3.82 <sup>g</sup>	
		30	6.10f <sup>g</sup>	
		60	10.00 <sup>cde</sup>	
		90	9.41 <sup>e</sup>	
Habru	with	0	9.61 <sup>de</sup>	
		30	6.11 <sup>fg</sup>	
		60	10.15 <sup>cde</sup>	
		90	18.99 <sup>a</sup>	
	L	SD(5%)	2.47	
		CV(%)	16.56	

### 4.2.2.3. Nodule dry weight

The dry weight of total nodules per plant in chickpea was highly significantly (P<0.01) influenced by the two way interaction of NPSB blended fertilizer rate and *Rhizobium* inoculants, variety and application of NPSB blended fertilizer rates and variety and

*Rhizobium* inoculants and inoculation (Appendix Table 2). It was also affected by the variety and inoculation with factors (P<0.01)

Thus, the highest (8.63mg) dry weight of total nodules per plant was obtained from to *Rhizobium* inoculation and 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>, while the lowest (4.26mg) total nodules dry weight values were obtained from no *Rhizobium* inoculation and 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> application ,the highest dry weight (5.74mg) of total nodules per plant with *rhizobium* inoculation from Habru, while the lowest (3.65 mg) dry weight of total nodules per plant was obtained from not inoculated variety Habru variety. Finally, regarding interaction of variety with fertilizer application the highest dry weight (5.80mg) was obtained in response to variety Habru when integrated with 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> while the lowest (2.83 mg) was obtained in response to Variety Arerti without fertilization (Table 9).

This is probably due to the positive role of S in NPSB in promoting nodulation and enhancement of photosynthesis in plants. In addition the possible reason for this result might be due to the differential response of genotype to the interaction effect of phosphorus and *Rhizobium* inoculants that eventually led to higher dry weight of total nodules through increased BNF availability. This is also due to the presence of P application with *Rhizobium* strains that individually or in combination affected root development, nodule weight per plant and nitrogen fixation parameters.

Consistent with this idea, Scherer (2008) has noted that root and nodule development of legumes root is promoted by S fertilization. Scherer and Lange (1996) also reported that S deficiency decreased N demand, which in turn decreased the number and mass of nodules. In contrast, an increase in N demand resulted in higher number and mass of nodules. Similarly, different authors reported that the dry weight of nodules increased with *Rhizobium* inoculation (Sipai *et al.*, 2016). Again, Ibsa *et al.* (2013) also reported that *Rhizobium* inoculation and P fertilizer significantly increased nodule dry weight per plant of chickpea

		Nodule dry weight
variety	* Inoculation	
Arerti	without	4.56 <sup>ba</sup>
Arerti	with	4.44 <sup>ba</sup>
Habru	without	3.65 <sup>b</sup>
Habru	with	5.74 <sup>a</sup>
LSE	D(5%)	1.82
Inoculation	n*Fertilizer(kgha <sup>-1</sup> )	
without	0	4.26 <sup>cb</sup>
without	30	$2.06^{d}$
without	60	5.72 <sup>b</sup>
without	90	4.39 <sup>cb</sup>
with	0	3.27 <sup>cd</sup>
with	30	3.06 <sup>cd</sup>
with	60	5.40 <sup>b</sup>
with	90	8.63 <sup>a</sup>
	LSD (5%)	1.54
Variety*F	ertilizer(kgha <sup>-1</sup> )	
Arerti	0	2.83 <sup>dc</sup>
Arerti	30	2.32 <sup>d</sup>
Arerti	60	5.63 <sup>ba</sup>
Arerti	90	7.22 <sup>a</sup>
Habru	0	4.69 <sup>bc</sup>
Habru	30	$2.80^{dc}$
Habru	60	5.49 <sup>ba</sup>
Habru	90	5.80 <sup>ba</sup>
	LSD (5%) CV (%)	1.95 21.96

Table 9. Chickpea nodule dry weight as influenced by combined effect inoculation with variety, inoculation with fertilizer and variety with Fertilizer at Meskan District in 2017/18

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P>0.05 level of probability following LSD, , LSD= Least significant difference, CV= Coefficient of variation ,

#### 4.2.2.4. Number of effective nodule

The analysis of variance showed that the two way interaction effect of Rhizobium inoculation and rates of NPSB fertilizer application had significant (P<0.05) effect on number of effective nodules per plant in chickpea. Where the rest of main effect and interaction effect had nonsignificant effect (Appendix Table 2). Thus, the highest number of effective nodules per plant (3.33) was recorded at the rate of 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with inoculation, while the lowest number of effective nodules per plant (1.33) was recorded at the rate of 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> and without inoculation (Table 10). This implies that differences in performance of chickpea varieties with combined *Rhizobium* inoculants compatibility and effect of phosphorus fertilizer application resulted in improved symbiotic relation between root bacteria and legume plant by providing power. As a result, their interaction increased the rate of nitrogen fixation that improved the effectiveness of nodules. The current finding is in line with many authors have been reported that legume nodules having dark pink or red colors due to presence of leg hemoglobin are an indication for effectiveness of the rhizobial strains used, which is well correlated with nitrogen fixation (Butler and Evers, 2004). Similarly, Bashir et al. (2011) reported that phosphorus plays a vital role in increasing plant tip and root growth, decreasing the time needed for developing nodules to become active (effective) for the benefit to the host legume. Similarly, Morad et al. (2013) reported that legume seed inoculation with proper *Rhizobium* strain together with recommended amounts of phosphorus at early growth stage could stimulate effective root nodulation and could increase the biological nitrogen fixation

Inoculation	Fertilizer(kg/ha)	Number of effective nodule
Without	0	1.33 <sup>c</sup>
Without	30	1.83b <sup>c</sup>
Without	60	3.16 <sup>a</sup>
Without	90	2.83b <sup>a</sup>
With	0	3.33ª
With	30	2.66 <sup>b</sup>
With	60	3.33 <sup>a</sup>
With	90	3.33 <sup>a</sup>
LSD (5%)		1.26
CV (%)		29.78

Table 10. Numbers of effective nodules per plant of chickpea as affected by interaction of rhizobium inoculation and rate of NPSB at Meskan District in 2017/18

Means by the same letter are not significantly different as judged by LSD test at 5% level of significance. LSD=least significant difference; CV=coefficient of variation,

## 4.2.3. Yield and Yield Components of Chickpea

#### 4.2.3.1.Number of Pods per Plant

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed highly significant (P<0.01) main effect of Rhizobium inoculation, different rate of NPSB blended fertilizer and their interaction effect for number of pods per plant. On the other hand, the three way interaction had highly significant effect on number of pod per plant. Similarly, the two way interaction of varieties with Rhizobium inoculation had significant effect on number pod per plant. However, main effect of variety and interaction effect of blended fertilizer rates and variety does not show a significant difference for number of pods per plant(Appendix Table 3).

The result of the current experiment revealed highly significant (P<0.01) three way interaction effect of variety, NPSB fertilizer application rate and Rhizobium inoculation on the total number of pods per plant (Appendix Table 3). Thus the highest (59.53) total number of pods per plant was recorded at application rate of 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with Rhizobium inoculation from variety Habru and as par with Arerti at 90 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> NPSB with inoculation .

While, the lowest (23.06) the same with Arerti at 0, without inoculation and Arerti with 0 and inoculation on number of total pods was obtained from the unfertilized plot with Rhizobium inoculation by variety Arerti. Plant growth behavior of legume crops including chickpea can be determined by number of pods per plant. So, this indicate that increase in number of pods per plant with the increased NPSB rates might possibly be due to adequate availability of N, P, S and B which might have facilitated the production of primary branches and plant height which might in turn have contributed for the production of higher number of total pods per plant In agreement with the result of Moniruzzaman *et al.* (2008) significant effect of N fertilizers on pod production per plant of French bean was resulted in the increment of number of pods per plant. Similarly, Somayeh and Hashem (2015) reported that the effects of application of 25 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> significantly increased the number of pods of faba bean per plant.

Inoculation with *Rhizobium* bacteria significantly increased the number of total pods per plant (Table 12). Plants that were inoculated with *Rhizobium* showed about 8% more pods per plant than non-inoculated plant. Togay *et al.* (2008) observed that the number of pods per plant affected statistically significant with *Rhizobium* inoculation in chickpea. China (2018) also application of NPSZnB led to the production of about 16% number of pods per plant than the number of pods produced by plants that received no fertilizer (control)

### 4.2.3.2.Number of seed per pod

Analysis of variance showed that the main effect of variety significantly (P < 0.01) influenced the number of seeds per pod. As well as the main effects of blended NPSB application rates had highly significant (P<0.01) effect on the number of seeds per pod. However, the main effect of Rhizobium inoculation and all the two/three way interaction effect did not significantly affect this parameter of the plant (Appendix Table 3).

The highest number (1.4) of seeds per pod was recorded from variety Arerti. Whereas, the least (1.2) number of seeds per pod was recorded for variety Habru. This indicates that the trait is mainly controlled by genetic factors than the management and this could be further linked to differences in seed size among the varieties. In line with the results of this study, Number of seeds per pod is considered to be an important factor that directly imparts potential yield in leguminous crops. This finding is similar with the result of Tesfahun *et al.* (2018) who reported that varieties effect on the number of seed per pod had a significant effect;

highest seeds per pod were formed by Mariye whereas the minimum seeds were obtained by the variety Arerti. This result might be obtained due to seed size of the variety Arerti of chickpea compared to other variety of chickpea. Mourice and Tryphonne (2012) observed significant variations in number of seeds per pod among common bean genotypes. The variation in number of seeds per pod could be attributed to the variation in the size of seeds of the cultivars where variety Habru with the large seed size produced lower number of seeds per pod. In agreement with this result, Fageria and Santos (2008)reported that the number of seeds per pod of different common bean genotypes varied in the range of 3.1 to 6 and attributed the difference due to the genetic variation of cultivars.

The maximum number of seeds per pod (1.66) was recorded from 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilizer whereas the least number of seeds per pod (1.11) was recorded from nil application of or 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilizer signifying that, the higher number (~45% incrment) of seeds with optimum rates of phosphorus fertilizer might be due to the cumulative effect of NPSB fertilizer on the processes of cell division, cell enlargement, root development, flowering, fruiting, seed formation and serve as balanced nutrition. This is in accordance with the fact that adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is a source of energy for physiological processes like biological nitrogen fixation (Giller, 2001). The result of the present study was in agreement with the findings of Shubhashree (2007) who reported that the number of seeds per pod of French bean increased significantly with the levels of phosphorus added. The result was also in line with that of Meena *et al.*, (2003) who reported that P fertilization increased the number of grains per pod of chickpea significantly.

Variety	Number of seed per plant
Arerti	1.39 <sup>a</sup>
Habru	1.20 <sup>b</sup>
LSD(5%)	0.17
Fertilizer(kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	
0	1.12b
30	1.15 <sup>b</sup>
60	$1.66^{a}$
90	1.28 <sup>b</sup>
LSD (5%)	0.24
CV (%)	21.69

Table 11. Number of seeds per pod of chickpea varieties as affected by the main effect of varieties and blended NPSB fertilizer in Meskan District during 2017/2018.

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD= Least significant difference, CV = Coefficient of variation

## 4.2.3.3. Harvest index

Analysis of variance indicated that, harvest index was highly significant (P < 0.001) affected by the three way interaction of variety, Rhizobium inoculation and blended NPSB application rates, main effects of Rhizobium inoculation and main effects of blended NPSB application rates as well as all of two way interaction except variety with Rhizobium inoculation. But, the main effects of varieties had no significant effect on the harvest index; while, the main effects of blended NPSB application rates had highly significant (P<0.01) effect on the harvest index(Appendix Table 3)).

Regarding the three way interaction effect of Rhizobium inoculation, variety and different rate of NPSB fertilization, thus maximum (0.68) harvest index was recorded by variety Habru from Rhizobium inoculation when integrated with 60kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilization while minimum(0.49) was recorded from variety Arerti integrated with the rate of 30kg ha<sup>-1</sup> NPSB fertilization without Rhizobium inoculation.

The higher NPSB fertilizers rate had high influence on vegetative growth than nutrient translocation from plant biomass to seed and also signifying that the higher NPSB fertilizers rate had high influence on vegetative growth than nutrient translocation from plant biomass to seed that means if increase in NPPP with the increased NPSB rates which facilitated the production of NPB contributed for the production of higher number of NPPP / This might be due to the variety Habru produced the high number of total pods per plant and yield that in turn resulted in to higher Harvest index.

In line with this result, Singh and Kumar (2004) reported the highest harvest index of lentil was obtained when 45 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> and 30 kg S ha<sup>-1</sup> were applied. Indicating that harvest index is a measure of physiological productivity potential of a crop or variety. It is the ability of a crop to convert the dry matter into economic yield. The higher the harvest index value, the more the production efficiency and vice versa. So the highest harvest index also implies higher partitioning of dry matter into grain. Thus, selection for varieties having high seed to biomass ration such as Habru could enhance chickpea yield. Overall, the results from this study showed significant variation among the evaluated varieties with respect to studied agronomic characters. The present study disagree with Tesfahun *et al.*(2018) regarding the interaction effect of variety and blended fertilizer rates, as they did not find significance for harvest index. This may be due to the absence of rhizobium+ inoculation. The increment in harvest index with rates of fertilizer is in agreement with the findings of Dhanjal et al. (2001) who also reported improvement in harvest index values of 31.60, 31.99 and 33.86% due to increasing N level zero to 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. However, Gifole *et al.* (2011) reported no significant response of harvest index of common bean to P application.

#### 4.2.3.4. Hundred Seed weight

The analysis of variance revealed that the three way interaction effect of variety, inoculation and blended NPSB application rates, main effects of variety and main effects of blended NPSB application rates were highly significant(P<0.01) as well as all of two way interaction except variety with fertilization. But, the main effects of varieties and its interaction with different rates blended NPSB application had no significant effect on the hundred seed weight (Table 12). Among various parameters contributing towards final yield of a crop, hundred-seed weight is of prime importance. A highly significant variation was observed between varieties for hundred-seed weight. Seed size is one of the most important yield related traits in chickpea crop and determines the final seed weight. The recorded variations for 100 seed weight could be attributed to small seed size.

Regarding variety, the higher (34.24g) hundred seed weight was recorded by Habru while, the lower(32.56g)was by Arerti. In addition, main effect of NPSB fertilization showed a highly significant difference (P<0.01) for hundred seed weight. maximum hundred seed weight (34.98g) was recorded from 90 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilization while, minimum (32.05g) was recorded from 0kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>. Indicating that the higher NPSB fertilizers rate had high influence on vegetative growth than nutrient translocation from plant biomass to seed. This is could be nutrient use efficiency by crop enhanced at optimum level of NPSB since grain weight indicates the amount of resource utilized and regarding the main effect of Rhizobium inoculation maximum hundred seed.

Regarding the three way interaction effect of Rhizobium inoculation, variety and blended fertilizer rates, Maximum hundred seed weight (38.4g) was recorded from inoculation(R1)\* Habru\*90kg ha<sup>-1</sup> NPSB fertilization followed by (36.06g) which was recorded from inoculation\*variety\*60kgha<sup>-1</sup> NPSB. This might be that the higher NPSB fertilizers rate had high influence on vegetative growth than nutrient translocation from plant biomass to seed, while minimum score (30.13 g) was recorded from Arerti without inoculation at the rate of 0kg ha<sup>-1</sup> NPSB fertilization. This might be because nutrient use efficiency by crop was enhanced at optimum level of N, P, S and B since grain weight indicates the amount of resource utilized during critical growth periods.

The increase in 100 seed weight with fertilizer application is in agreement with the finding of Shamim and Naimat (1987) who indicated the increment in 100-seed weight due to the influence of cell division, phosphorus content in the seeds as well as the formation of fat and albumin. The increase in hundred seed weight as a result of increased P application might be attributed to roles the nutrient plays in regenerative growth of the crop (Zafar et al., 2013), leading to increased seed size (Fageria, 2009), which in turn may be impacted by improved

hundred seed weight. Similarly, Amare *et al.* (2014) observed significant increase in thousand seed weights of common bean as a result of phosphorus application up to 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> in contrast to the results of this study. Fisseha and Yayis (2015) reported that the different levels of phosphorus (46, 69 and 92 kg  $P_2O_5$  ha<sup>-1</sup>) fertilizer used had not resulted in significant difference in 100 seed weight of common bean. Variation in hundred seed weight might have occurred due to the presence of difference in seed size among the common bean varieties as hundred seed weight increases with increase in the seed size. In line with this result, Tanaka and Fujita (1979) stated that the number of seeds per pod and weights of hundred seeds were strongly controlled genetically in field bean (*Pisum sativim*).

### 4.2.3.5. Grain yield

The data in relation to grain yield  $ha^{-1}$  of chickpea varieties as influenced by rates of NPSB levels and Rhizobium inoculation are presented in Table-3 and its analysis of variance as indicated (Appendix Table -3). The analysis of variance suggested that the effect of Rhizobium inoculation, various NPSB levels, varieties as well as all their interaction on Grain yield  $ha^{-1}$  was statistically and highly significant (P<0.01).

Regarding fertilization, it is evident from the results (Table-12) that highest seed yield (2973kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded when the chickpea was fertilized with highest NPSB level of 90 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, followed by second NPSB levels of 60 kg and 30 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with seed yield of 2433kg ha<sup>-1</sup> and 1574 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The seed yield ha<sup>-1</sup> was diminished to 2433 kg and 1574 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> when the NPSB levels were reduced to 60 kg and 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. However, the lowest seed yield of 1354 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> was recorded in control, where no NPSB was applied. Regarding, the main effect of varieties, the maximum seed yield (2305 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) was produced by variety Habru, while lowest seed yield (1862 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) was observed in variety Arerti

Regarding, the three way interaction of "variety Habru ×rhizobium inoculation× 60 kg NPSB  $ha^{-1}$  resulted in maximum seed yield (3814 kg  $ha^{-1}$ ). While, the minimum seed yield (873kg  $ha^{-1}$ ) was noted in the interaction of "variety Arerti × without inoculation × 0 kg NPSB  $ha^{-1}$  (control) . This might be due to symbiosis between legumes, rhizobium inoculation and (NPSB) fertilizer resulted in increased nodulation and primary branches which contribute for

the grain yield. In agreement with increased chickpea grain yield due to application of P and/or Inoculation was evident on most target farms, with only few exceptions where yields on inoculated plots were similar or inferior to those on the corresponding control plots (Endalkachew *et al*, 2018).

The seed yield ha<sup>-1</sup> was gradually increased with increasing NPSB levels, which suggested that the soil under experiment was deficient of this nutrient element and the crop responded its increased application positively. These results have been further supported by the findings of Frossard *et al.* (2000) who reported that application of phosphorus at higher levels resulted in increased crop growth, particularly positive impact was noted on branching, pods, seeds pod-1, seed index and increased seed yield. A pronounced effect of P application on chickpea yields has also been reported by Fairhurst and Witt (2002). The number of pods and seed index was improved under higher P applications (Kumar and Sreenivasulu, 2004). Gruhn *et al.* (2000) reported higher grain yield in gram due to P application. Kumar and Sreenivasulu (2004) reported that higher P levels along with recommended dose of N increased seed yield substantially. Similarly, Ramesh *et al.* (2010) obtained maximum net returns from chickpea crop when supplied with higher phosphorus levels along with recommended N application. In a similar study, Islam *et al.* (2011) recommended P application at the rate of 80 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> for achieving higher chickpea yields.

The development and use of high yielding, tolerant cultivars may offer as one of the suitable components of eco-friendly practice. Keita *et al.* (200) screened out a number of varieties of Cicer arietinum which were found high yielding and free from insect pest while Erler *et al.* (2009) reported quite a different behaviour of chickpea varieties in response to different input application. In a similar investigation, Hossain (2009) examined a series of varieties and all varieties responded differently to P application. The results indicated that significantly higher values were practiced for growth and yield attributes by means of highest grain and straw yield (2240 kgha<sup>-1</sup> and 2420 kgha<sup>-1</sup>) of ensuing chickpea.

Variety	Inoc	Fert(Kg/ha)	NPPP(No)	HI%	HSW(g)	GY(kg/ha)	AE(kg/kg)
Arerti	without	0	30.47 <sup>gf</sup>	0.63 <sup>cd</sup>	31.00 <sup>ed</sup>	873 <sup>m</sup>	-
		30	23.07 <sup>g</sup>	0.53 <sup>edf</sup>	30.33 <sup>e</sup>	1161 <sup>k</sup>	11.78 <sup>d</sup>
		60	38.07 <sup>d e f</sup>	$0.50^{\mathrm{f}}$	33.13 <sup>bcde</sup>	2445 <sup>e</sup>	7.83 <sup>e</sup>
		90	40.33 <sup>d e</sup>	0.53 <sup>ef</sup>	33.93 <sup>bcd</sup>	3687 <sup>b</sup>	1.77 <sup>f</sup>
Arerti	with	0	32.00 <sup>gef</sup>	0.57 <sup>ed</sup>	31.00 <sup>ed</sup>	1291 <sup>j</sup>	-
		30	57.27 <sup>ba</sup>	0.67 <sup>b</sup>	33.40 <sup>bcde</sup>	1026 <sup>1</sup>	16.75 <sup>c</sup>
		60	44.27 <sup>d c</sup>	0.51 <sup>ef</sup>	35.73 <sup>ab</sup>	2376 <sup>fe</sup>	18.08 <sup>c</sup>
		90	49.53 <sup>b c</sup>	$0.54^{edf}$	32.00 <sup>cde</sup>	2044 <sup>h</sup>	8.37 <sup>e</sup>
Habru	without	0	36.20 <sup>def</sup>	0.64 <sup>cb</sup>	30.13 <sup>e</sup>	1067 <sup>1</sup>	-
		30	38.27 <sup>def</sup>	0.53 <sup>ef</sup>	34.13 <sup>bcd</sup>	1569 <sup>i</sup>	16.70 <sup>c</sup>
		60	36.20 <sup>def</sup>	$0.55^{edf}$	34.53 <sup>bc</sup>	$2080^{h}$	16.86 <sup>c</sup>
		90	36.47 <sup>def</sup>	$0.54^{edf}$	35.60 <sup>ba</sup>	2834 <sup>c</sup>	1.77 <sup>f</sup>
Habru	with	0	37.00 <sup>d e f</sup>	0.64 <sup>c b</sup>	34.67 <sup>bc</sup>	2187 <sup>g</sup>	-
		30	34.27 <sup>ef</sup>	0.52 <sup>ef</sup>	30.40 <sup>e</sup>	2541 <sup>d</sup>	9.57 <sup>ed</sup>
		60	59.53 <sup>a</sup>	0.68 <sup>a</sup>	36.06 <sup>ab</sup>	3814 <sup>a</sup>	26.19 <sup>b</sup>
		90	38.20 <sup>def</sup>	0.59 <sup>cd</sup>	38.40 <sup>a</sup>	2347 <sup>f</sup>	31.25 <sup>a</sup>
	LSD(5%)		9.1	0.06	3.3	0.92	2.48
	CV(%)		13.88	6.09	5.95	2.65	14.06

Table 12. Effect of combined application of different rates NPSB blended fertilizer, varieties and Rhizobium inoculation on yield and yield components of chickpea at meskan in 2017/18

Means in a column with the same letter are not significantly different at P>0.05 level of probability following LSD, LSD= Least significant difference, CV = Coefficient of variation NDW= Nodule dry weight NPPP=number of pod per plant, HI= harvest index, HSW=hundred seed weight, AE= agronomic efficiency

# 4.2.3.6. Agronomic Efficiency of the applied fertilizer

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) revealed that except the main effect of variety and the interaction effect of Rhizobium inoculation and varieties had nonsignificant. However, the main effect of applied rates of NPSB fertilizer, the main effect of rhizobium inoculation, the two way interaction of variety with rates of NPSB, rhizobium inoculation with rates of NPSB

as well as the three way interaction showed significant effect (P<0.001) on agronomic efficiency of chickpea (Appendix Table 4). This means that both rate of main effect of NPSB blended fertilizer and inoculation with their interaction as well as the three way interaction affected significantly agronomic efficiency of chickpea in this experiment(Table 12).

Thus, the highest (31.25kgkg<sup>-1</sup>) agronomic efficiency was obtained under plot supplied with interaction of 90kgNPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with rhizobium inoculation from variety Habru; whereas, significantly minimum (1.77kgkg<sup>-1</sup>) agronomic efficiency was recorded from interaction effect of 90kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> without inoculation on the variety Arerti (Table-12). This could be due to application of NPSB in line with Rhizobium inoculation increases the better availability of desired and essential nutrients in the crop root zone ensuing from its solubilisation caused by the organic acids produced from the decaying organic matter and also the increased uptake by chickpea root specially nitrogen and sulphur there effect to one another and responsible to increase vegetative growth then affects agronomic efficiency and the relative similarity of percentage of nutrient in NPSB blended fertilizer could be another cause. The present study indicated that the capability of yield increase per kilogram of applied combination at rate of NPSB fertilizer and rhizobium inoculation. Ayuba et al. (2005) found that available P increased significantly while total P was as high as 7.21 ppm following treatment by inoculants influenced agronomic efficiency. Asefa et al., (2014) showed that the interaction effect of source of fertilizer recommended dose of N (75%) + FYM (25%N) + S 40kg ha<sup>-1</sup> recorded maximum Stover yield of soya bean.

## 4.3. Correlation of grain yield and yield components of chickpea

Correlation analysis for the different parameters indicated in the table 13 .Grain yield had positively and significantly associated with shoot dry weight( $r = 0.405^{**}$ ), number of effective nodules( $r = 0.348^{*}$ ), nodule fresh weight( $r = 0.335^{*}$ ), number of nodule per plant( $r = 0.314^{*}$ ) and hundred seed weight( $r = 0.440^{**}$ ). This implies the higher shoot dry weight per plant due to high number of nodule with high number of effective nodule there effect had contributed to hundred seed weight then increase grain yield through increasing the seed weight per plant and to increase grain yield by simultaneous improvement of those positive and significant associated parameter. This finding agrees with the result of Kebere *et al.* 

(2006) who reported shoot dry weight, number of effective nodules, nodule fresh weight, number of nodule per plant and hundred seed weight had significantly and positively associated with grain yield.

On the other hand, grain yield had negative and significant correlation with date of flowering(r=-0.593\*\*) indicating that the crop is cultivated by residual moisture. This is an indicator for strong negative influence of phenological traits on yield and yield related traits, as prolonged time of flowering and maturity significantly influence the formation of pods and seeds of chickpea genotypes, and this in turn would affect the yielding performance of the crop. Consequently, the shortest (earliest) variety better performed the experiment conducted area and similar agro ecology. This result is similar with the finding of Temesgen (2007) who reported date of flowering had negatively and significantly associated with grain yield while, the remaining parameters were non-significant.

Plant height(r=0.445\*\*) and number of nodule per plant(r=0.0.330\*)significantly and positively associated with date of maturity. This implies that extended date of maturity (higher translocation of photo-assimilate to strong sink) contributed to increase height through increasing the number of nodule per plant. Similarly, shoot dry weight( $r = 0.300^*$ ), nodule dry weight ( $r = 0.317^*$ ), nodule fresh weight( $r=0.340^*$ ), number of nodule per plant( $r = 0.491^{**}$ ) and number of seed per pod (r=0.310\*) showed positive and highly significant correlation with leaf area. This implies high indicating high light interception and assimilation and large root volume indicating good nutrient and water uptake contributed to increase yield by increasing quantity of grain yield per unit of nutrient applied (agronomic efficiency). And also number of primary branch had showed positive and significant correlation with number of effective nodule ( $r= 0.345^*$ ) while, number of effective nodule is positively and significantly correlated with nodulation contributing component like number of nodule per plant (r =  $(0.331^*)$  and nodule fresh weight(r =  $0.946^{**}$ ) had significant and positive association with nodule dry weight, number of seed per pod ( $r = 0.380^{**}$ ), number of pod per plant(r=0.373\*\*) had significant positive correlation with number of nodule per plant, harvest index(r=0.552\*\*) had significant and positive correlation with number of pod per plant and number seed per pod significantly and positive correlation with hundred seed weight(r=0.383\*\*).

Characters	DF	DM	PLH	LA	NPB	SDW	RDW	NEN	NDW	NFW	NNPP	NPPP	NSPP	HI	HSW	YLD
DF	1.000	0.330*	-0.068	-0.243	0.022	0.478**	-0.055	-0.096	-0.296*	-0.298*	-0.220	-0.328*	-0.214	0.094	-0.310*	0.593**
DM		1.000	0.445**	-0.038	0.178	0.093	0.022	0.244	0.104	0.065	0.330*	0.094	0.067	0.129	0.047	-0.055
PLH			1.000	0.179	0.376**	0.374**	0.054	0.405**	0.259	0.189	0.601**	0.349*	0.161	0.064	0.182	0.074
LA				1.000	0.065	0.300*	0.164	0.117	0.317*	0.340*	0.491**	0.169	0.310*	-0.138	0.226	0.201
NPB					1.000	0.085	-0.217	0.345*	0.027	0.090	0.275	0.022	0.083	-0.012	0.196	-0.034
SDW						1.000	0.110	0.057	0.471**	0.429**	0.693**	0.474**	0.252	0.255	0.402**	0.405**
RDW							1.000	-0.104	0.062	0.055	0.172	0.095	-0.215	0.257	-0.016	0.068
NEN								1.000	0.058	0.036	0.331*	0.129	0.248	-0.099.	0.177	0.348*
NDW									1.000	0.946**	0.542**	0.245	0.511	0.037	0.293	0.322
NDW										1.000	0.537**	0.264	0.544**	0.063	0.357*	0.335*
NNPP											1.000	0.373**	0.380**	0.239	0.465**	0.314*
NPPP												1.000	0.021	0.552**	0.273	0.180
NSPP													1.000	-0.175	0.383**	0.217
HI														1.000	0.177	-0.147
HSW															1.000	0.440**
YLD																1.000

Table 13. Correlation	n of grain	yield and	yield com	ponents of	chickpea
	0	~	2		

DF= date of flowering, DM = date of maturity, NPB=numberof primary branch, LA=Leafarea , NEN=numberofeffective nodule, NNPP=number of pod perplant, RDW=root dry weight, NSPP=number of seed per pod, HSW=hundred seed weight , GY=grain yield, HI=harvesting index, soot dry weight, \*=Correlation is significant at 0.05 probablity level and \*\*= Correlation is significant at 0.01 level

## **4.4. Economic Analysis**

The parietal budget analysis was used to identify treatments with the optimum return for the farmer's investment. The results of the partial budget analysis for NPSB blended fertilizer rate as compared to inoculants and their combination effect on nodulation, growth and yield response of chickpea (Table 14).

The highest gross farm gate benefit 72090.69 ETB ha<sup>-1</sup> was gain from yield obtained at combined effect of 60kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> + inoculants from variety Habru and the second gross benefit 46210.5 was obtained from interaction effect of 60kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> + without rhizobium inoculation from variety Arerti.

Therefore, the marginal rate of return was done based on a treatment to be considered as worthwhile to farmers, that is 50% and 100% marginal rate of return (MRR) is the minimum acceptable rate of return (CIMMYT, 1988). Hence, it is important to compare treatments to remove undesirable treatments in view of economic profitability rather than only looking at the highest grain yield, because it may not be attractive if they required very much higher cost.

Therefore, the highest net benefit was 66740.19 ETB ha<sup>-1</sup> obtained at plot treated with 60kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> + Inoculants with variety Habru in combination. The adoption of this treatment would give an additional gain of 5754.64 % from every Birr invested in chickpea production. While the second highest 48379.8 ETB ha<sup>-1</sup> net benefit with additional gain of 4185.89 % from every Birr invested was obtained at interactive application of 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> + without inoculation from variety Arerti.

Therefore, interaction effect of 60 kg NPSB  $ha^{-1}$  + Inoculants was more economically attractive than all other treatment (Table-14). Application of 60 kg NPSB  $ha^{-1}$  + Inoculants resulted in the highest mean grain yield increase as compared to all other treatments.

It could be considered as the most profitable treatment. It has the highest return to the money invested in its production; it maximized profit and output and minimized costs (Table -14). All interaction effect from rate of fertilizer, inoculants and variety were economically viable and had positive marginal rate of returns. The economic analysis has led to 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> +

inoculation with variety habru is suitable for potential adoption by farmers if additional study required to be undertaken on the same experiment to confirm for further use. Generally, significant maximum grain yields were obtained from 60kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> blended fertilizer interacted with Inoculants and variety as well as it had maximum marginal rate of return.

Treatments		Grain yield						
Variety	Inoculatio	Fert	UGY/kg/	AGY/kg/ha	GFB	TVC	NB	MRR
	n	(kg/ha)	ha	_	(ETBha <sup>-1</sup> )	(ETB ha-1)	(ETBha-1)	(%)
Arerti	without	0	873.33	786.00	16506	3620	12886	
Habru	without	0	1067.33	960.57	20171.97	3620	16551.97	-
Arerti	With	0	1290.67	1161.60	24393.6	4100	20293.6	779.50
Habru	With	0	2187.00	1968.30	41334.3	4100	37234.3	-
Arerti	without	30	1161.00	1044.90	21942.9	4405.5	17537.4	D
Habru	without	30	1568.67	1411.80	29647.8	4405.5	25242.3	-
Arerti	without	60	2445.00	2200.50	46210.5	4790.97	41419.53	4185.89
Habru	without	60	2079.67	1871.70	39305.7	4790.97	34514.73	-
Habru	With	30	2540.67	2286.60	48018.6	4965.5	43053.1	D
Arerti	With	30	1025.67	923.10	19385.1	4965.5	14419.5	-
Arerti	without	90	2044.00	1839.60	38631.6	5176.5	33455.1	D
Habru	without	90	2833.67	2550.30	53556.3	5176.5	48379.8	D
Arerti	With	60	2375.67	2138.10	44900.1	5350.97	39549.13	D
Habru	With	60	3814.33	3432.89	72090.69	5350.97	66740.19	5754.64
Arerti	With	90	3686.67	3318.00	69678	5736.5	63941.5	D
Habru	With	90	2346.67	2112.00	44352	5736.5	38615.5	-

Table 14. Summary of economic analysis of the response of chickpea varieties for rates of blended NPSB fertilizer and rhizobium inoculation at meskan in 2018/2019

Where, UGY = Unadjusted grain yield; AGY = adjusted grain yield; GFB = gross field benefit; TVC = total variable costs; NB = net benefit; MRR = marginal rate of return; ETB  $ha^{-1}$  = Ethiopian Birr per hectare; D = dominated treatments.

# **5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSSION**

Use of appropriate combination of variety, NPSB application rate and *Rhizobium* inoculation are the major agronomic practices that can improve the productivity of chickpea. Thus, a field experiment was conducted at Meskan District in 2017/18 with the objectives of assessing the response of chickpea varieties to rate of NPSB fertilizer and *rhizobium* inoculation to determine the economic feasibility of rate of NPSB fertilizer with and without rhizibium inonoculation for achieving higher yield of chickpea and two chickpea varieties (Arerti and Habru), with and without inoculation and four rates of (0, 30, 60 and 90 kg of NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup>) were conducted in factorial RCBD with three replication.

Combined use of rate of blended NPSB fertilizer with Rhizobium inoculation was an important complementary strategy in improving chickpea growth, nodulation and yield as well as reducing production cost. The analysis of variance had revealed that the interaction effect of blended NPSB fertilizer with Rhizobium inoculation on growth components such as plant height, leaf area, number of primary branches per plant, shoot dry weight, and root dry weight was highly significant. This could be reason for highly significant increase on nodulation, yield, and yield component as the rate increases. Nodulation variables such as nodule number was significantly influenced by main effect of NPSB blended fertilizer and interaction of variety and rhizobium inoculation, nodule dry weight was significantly influenced by main effective nodule was influenced by interaction effect of Rhizobium inoculation and fertilization. Similarly, Interaction effect of fertilizer and Rhizobium inoculation with different variety had significant effect on the above listed parameters.

The variety Habru showed superiority over Arerti by giving 59.53 pods plant<sup>-1</sup>, 0.68 harvest index, 38.4g hundred seed weight and 3814kg ha<sup>-1</sup> seed yield. The development and use of high yielding and tolerant cultivars may offer as one of the suitable components of eco-friendly practice. Correlation analysis indicated that grain yield had positively and significantly associated with shoot dry weight, number of effective nodules, nodule fresh weight, number of nodule per plant and hundred seed weight had significantly and positively associated with grain yield.

The interaction effect of variety, rhizobium inoculation and rates of NPSB fertilizer revealed the highest net benefit (66740.19 ETB) from Habru variety at application of 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with Rhizobium inoculation with the highest marginal rate of return (5754.64%) .The lowest (ETB 12886 ha<sup>-1</sup>) net return was recorded from the variety Arerti supplied with 0 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> without seed inoculation.

This shows economic feasibility of the three treatments because the marginal rate of return from treatment of highest net benefit is (5754.64%) which is > 100%. So, 60kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> + Rhizobium inoculation could be considered as the most profitable treatment. It has the highest return to the money invested in its production; it maximized profit and output and minimized costs.

Based on the results of this study, it can be concluded that chickpea varieties highly varied in their agronomic performance mainly due to variation in their genetic background. rates of NPSB fertilizer and *Rhizobium* inoculantion

Although the experiment was conducted at one site and for one season and combined variety, rate of NPSB fertilizer and *Rhizobium* inoculants were used, it is reasonable to point out that Habru at application rate of 60 kg NPSB ha<sup>-1</sup> with *Rhizobium* inoculantion produced the highest seed yield of chickpea as alternative variety Habru on application rate of 30kg NPSBha<sup>-1</sup>with inoculation. However, similar studies should be conducted by including other chickpea varieties in different locations over growing seasons and using different *Rhizobium* inoculants with consideration of economic analysis in order to come to a conclusive recommendation.

55

## 6. REFERENCES

- Acharya, K.P., Skuza, J.R., Lukaszew, R.A., Liyanage, C. and Ullrich, B., 2007. CdS thin films formed on flexible plastic substrates by pulsed-laser deposition. *Journal of Physics Condensed Matter*, **19**(19): 196221.
- Ahmed, A.G., Ahmed, M., Hassanein, M. and Zaki, N.M. 2010. Effect of organic and biofertilization on growth and yield of two chickpea cultivars in newly cultivated land. *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 6 (12): 2000-2009.
- Alam, M.Z. and Haider S. A. 2006. Growth attributes of barley (*Hordeum Vulgare* L.) cultivars in relation to different doses of nitrogen fertilizer. *Journal of Earth Science*. **1(2):** 77-82.
- Alemu, B. 2014. Adaptation Study of Improved Kabuli Chickpea (Cicer Arietinum L) Varieties at Kellem Wollega Zone, Haro Sabu, Ethiopia. *Journal of Natural Science Research*, 4: 21-24.
- Amare, G., Assaye, D. and Tuma A, 2014. The response of haricot bean varieties to different rates of phosphorus at Arba-Minch, Southern Ethiopia. ARPN *Journal of Agriculture and Biological Science*, **9(10)**: 344-350.
- Anbessa, Y. and Bejiga, G., 2002. Evaluation of Ethiopian chickpea landraces for tolerance to drought, *Crop Evolution*. **49** (6): 557–564.
- Angaw, T. and Asfaw , H. 2006. Symbiotic nitrogen fixation research on food legume in Ethiopia. pp 172-176. *In*: Kemal ali, Gemechu Keneni, Seid, A., Rajendra, M., Surendra, B., Khaled, M and Halila, M.H. (eds.). Food and forage legume of Ethiopia. *Proceedings of a workshop on food and forage legume*, 22-26 September 2006, Addis Ababa Ethiopia.
- Argaw, A. 2016. Effectiveness of Rhizobium inoculation on common bean productivity as determined by inherent soil fertility status. *Journal of Crop science and Biotechnology*, **19**(4):311-322.
- Asfaw, T., Gelatu, B. and Berhe. A 1994. Role of cool season food legumes and their production constraints in Ethiopia agriculture. *International Cool Season Food Legumes of Ethiopia*, 3-18.
- Assefa, H., Amsalu, B. and Tana, T. 2017. Response of common Bean (Pharsalus vulgaris L.) cultivars to combined application of rhizobium and NP fertilizer at Melkassa, central Ethiopia. *International Journal of Plant and Soil Science*, **14**(1):1-10.
- Attar, H.A., Blavet D. Selim E. M., Abdelhamid M. T., DrevonJ. J. 2012. Relationship between phosphorus status and nitrogen fixation by common beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) under drip irrigation *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 9:1–13.

- Aynabeba,A., Assefa, F., Mariam, A.H. and Bekele, E.2001. Studies of rhizobium inoculation and fertilizer treatment on growth and production of faba bean (Vicia faba) in some'yield-depleted'and'yield sustained'regions of Semien Shewa. *SINET: Ethiopian Journal of Science*, **24**(2):197-211.
- BARC (Bangladesh Agricultural Research Council). 2005. Critical limits of nutrients in soils: Fertilizer Recommendation Guide. Soil Publication No. 45. Dhaka, Bangladesh
- Bashir, K., Ali.S and Umari.A 2011. Effect of different phosphorus levels on xylem sap components and their correction with growth variables of Mash bean. Sarhad *Journal of Agriculture*, **27(4)**:10-20.
- Bejiga G, Eshete M and Anbessa Y. 1996. Improved cultivars and production technology of chickpea in Ethiopia. Debre Zeit Agricultural Research Center (DZARC), Debre Zeit, Ethiopia.
- Bekele,S., Jones.R, Silim.S, Tekelewold.H and Gwata.E, 2007. Analysis of production costs, market opportunities and competitiveness of desi and kabuli chickpea in Ethiopia. IMPS (Improving productivity and market Success) of Ethiopian Farmers Project Working Paper 3. ILRI (International Livestock Research Institute), Nairobi, Kenya. 48pp.
- Belay, G. 2006. Cereals and pulses (Vol. 1). PROTA Foundation, Wageningen, Netherlands
- Beza, S., W. 2017. Response of chickpea (*Cicer aritienum* L.) to sulfur and zinc application and rhizobium in North Western Ethiopia. MSc. Thesis. Haramaya University. Haramaya. Ethiopia.
- Bhuiyan, M.A.H., Khanam.D, Khatun.M.R. and Hassan.M.S.1998. Effect of molybdenum, boron and *Rhizobium*on nodulation, growth and yield of chickpea *Bull. Institute of crop Agriculture*, **21:** 1-7.
- Butler, T.J., Cohen, M.D., Vermeylen, F.M., Likens, G.E., Schmeltz, D. and Artz, R.S., 2008. Regional precipitation mercury trends in the eastern USA, 1998–2005: Declines in the Northeast and Midwest, no trend in the Southeast. *Atmospheric Environment*, 42(7) :1582-1592.
- Buttery, B.R,1969. Analysis of the growth of soybeans as affected by plant population and fertilizer. Canadian *Journal of Plant Science*, **49**:675-684.
- Caliskan, S., Ozkaya, I, Caliskan, M.E, Arslan, M, 2008. The effect of nitrogen and iron fertilization on growth, yield and fertilizer use efficiency of soybean in Mediterranean type soil. *Field Crops Research*, **108**: 126-132.
- Chalk, P.M., Alves, B.J., Boddey, R.M. and Urquiaga, S., 2010. Integrated effects of abiotic stresses on inoculant performance, legume growth and symbiotic dependence estimated by 15 N dilution..*Journal of Plant and Soil*, **328**(1-2):1-16.

- CIMMYT (Centro Internacional de Mejoramiento de Maiz y Trigo). 1988. From Agronomic Data to Farmer Recommendations: an economics training manual, D.F. Mexico. 51.
- CSA (Central Statistical Agency), 2014/15. Agricultural Sample Survey Report on Area and Production of Crops Private Peasant Holdings, Meher Season. FAO, 2007.
- CSA (Central Statistical Authority of Ethiopia), 2017. Agricultural sample survey meher season: Statistical report on area and production of crops, farm management practices, farm implements, machineries and storage mechanisms. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- CSA(Central Statistical Authority) Agricultural Sample Survey 2016/2017 (2009 E.C.), Report on Area and Production of Major Crops (Private Peasant Holdings, Meher Season). Statistical Bulletin 584, April 2017, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, I: 19.
- Cubero, J.I. 1987. Morphology of chickpea. The chickpea, 35-66.
- Dadi,L, Regasssa.S, Fikre.A and Mitiku.D,2005. Adoption of chickpea varieties in the central highlands of Ethiopia. Research Report 62. EARO (Ethiopian Agricultural Research Organization), Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- Debela, T.H., Beyene.A, Tesfahun.E, Getaneh.A, Gize.A and Mekonnen.Z, 2018. Fecal contamination of soil and water in sub-Saharan Africa cities: the case of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology*, **18**(2):225-230.
- Dejene, S.Z., Bateman, B.T., Patorno, E., Desai, R.J., Seely, E.W., Mogun, H., Fischer, M.A., Friedman, A.M., Hernandez-Diaz, S. and Huybrechts, K.F., 2017. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and the risk of congenital malformations. *Obstetrics and* gynecology, 129(1):174.
- Dejene, T., Tana. T, Urage. E, 2016. Response of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) to application of lime and phosphorus on acidic soil of Areka, Southern Ethiopia. *Journal of Natural Science Research* **6**: 90-100.
- Devi, K.N., Singh.L.N.K, Singh.M.S, Singh.S.B and Singh.K.K, 2012. Influence of sulphur and boron fertilization on yield, quality, nutrient uptake and economics of soya bean (*Glycine max L.*) under upland conditions. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, **4**:1-9.
- Diapari, M., Sindhu.A, Bett.K, Deokari.A, Warkentin.D.T and Tar'an.B, 2014. Genetic diversity and association mapping of iron and zinc concentration in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L). *Genome*, **57**: 459-468.
- Dutta, D. and Bandyopadhyay, P. 2009. Performance of chickpea to application of phosphorus and biofertilizer in laterite soil. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, 55:147-155.
- Dutta, D. and Bandyopadhyay, P., 2009. Performance of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) to application of phosphorus and bio-fertilizer in laterite soil. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, **55(2)**:147-155.
- El-Adawy, T.A., 2002. Nutritional composition and antinutritional factors of chickpeas (Cicer arietinum L.) undergoing different cooking methods and germination. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, **57(1)**:83-97.
- Endalcachew, W.M., van Heerwaarden, J., Abdulkadir, B., Kassa, S., Aliyi, I., Degefu, T., Wakweya, K., Kanampiu, F. and Giller, K.E., 2018. Additive yield response of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) to rhizobium inoculation and phosphorus fertilizer across farms in Ethiopia. *Agricultural, ecosystems and environment*, 261:144-152.
- Eriksen, J., Thorup-Kristensen, K. and Askegaard, M. 2004. Plant availability of catch cropsulphur following spring incorporation. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, **167**: 609-615.
- Erman, M., Demir, S., Ocak, E., Tufenkci, S., Oguz, F., Akkopru, A. 2011. Effects of *Rhizobium*, arbuscular mycorrhiza and whey applications on some properties in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) under irrigated and rainfed conditions 1-Yield, yield components, nodulation and AMF colonization. *journal of Field Crops Research*, **122(1):** 14-24.
- EthioSIS (Ethiopia Soil Information System). 2014. Soil fertility status and fertilizer recommendation atlas for Tigray regional state, Ethiopia. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, July 2014.
- Fageria,N.K, Baligar.VC, Moreira.A and Portes.T.A 2010. Dry bean genotypes evaluation for growth, yield component and phosphorus use efficiency. *Journal of Plant.Nutrition*, 33(14):2167-2181.
- Fairhurst T. and C. Witt. 2002. Rice: A Practical Guide to Nutrient Management. Singapore and Los Banos. Potash and Phosphate Institute and Phosphate Institute of Canada and International Rice Research Institute. 1-45.
- FAOSTAT (Food and Agricultural Organization Statistical Database). 2014. Retrieved May 21, 2015, from http://faostat3.fao.org/download/Q/QC/E. United Nations. Rome, Italy.
- Fatima, Z., Zia, M. and Chaudhary, M.F. 2007. Interactive effect of *Rhizobium* strains and P phosphorus on soybean yield, nitrogen fixation and soil fertility. *Pakistan journal of Botany*, **39**(1):255-264
- Fikre, A., 2016, October. Progresses of chickpea research and development in Ethiopia. In Harnessing Chickpea Value Chain for Nutrition Security and Commercialization of Smallholder Agriculture in Africa, Proceedings of a Workshop. 25-39.
- Fisseha.N and Rezene.Y, 2015. Nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers rate as affecting common bean production at Areka, Ethiopia. *Journal of Agriculture and Crops*, **1(3)**:33-37.
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). 2015. FAOSTAT Statistical Database of the United Nation Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Statistical Division. Rome.

- Friedman, M. 1996. Nutritional value of proteins from different food sources: a review. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, **44**: 629.
- Frossard, E., Condron, L.M., Oberson, A., Sinaj, S. and Fardeau. J. C, 2000. Processes governing phosphorus availability in temperate soils. *Journal of Environment. Quality*, 29: 15-23.
- Gan, Y., Johnston, A.M., Knight, J.D., Mcdonald, C. and Stevenson, C. 2010. Nitrogen dynamics of chickpea: Effects of cultivar choice, N fertilization, *R*. inoculation, and cropping systems. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, **90**:655-666.
- Ganeshamurthy, A.N. and Sammi-Reddy,K. 2000. Effect of integrated use of farmyard manure and sulphur in a soybean and wheat cropping system on nodulation, dry matter production and chlorophyll content of soybean on the swell-shrink soil in Central India. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, **185**: 91-97.
- Gaur, V. 2010. Biofertilizer Necessity for sustainability. J. Adv. Dev, 1:7-8
- Gezahegn, A. M., Tesfaye.K., Sharma.J, Belel M and Tejada.M.M, 2016. Determination of optimum plant density for faba bean (Viciafaba L.) on vertisols at Haramaya, Eastern Ethiopia, *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, **2(1)**: 629.
- Giller, K.E. and Cadisch, G. 1995. Future benefits from biological nitrogen fixation: an agriculture.pp.255-277.*International Journal of biological nitrogen fixation for the development of more productive and sustainable agricultural systems.* Springer Netherlands.
- Gruhn, P., Goletti.F, and Yudelman.M, 2000. Integrated Nutrient Management, Soil Fertility, and Sustainable Agriculture, *Current Issues and Future Challenges*, **2020**(6) :1-3.
- Habtamu ,A., Berhanu, A and Tamado,T. 2017. Response of common bean (*Pharsalus vulgaris* L.) cultivars to combined application of *Rhizobium* and NP fertilizer at Melkassa, Central Ethiopia. *International Journal of Plant and Soil Science*, 14(1): 1-10.
- Habtegebrial, Kiros., Singh.B.R. and Aune, J.B. 2007. Wheat response to N<sub>2</sub> fixed by faba bean (*ViciafabaL.*) as affected by sulphur fertilization and rhizoidal inoculation in semi arid Northern Ethiopia. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, **170**: 412-418.
- Hartemink, A.E.2002. Soil science in tropical and temperate regions some differences and similarities.
- Hossain,M., Shamim and Ghulam Muhammad. "Cloud-assisted industrial internet of things(iiot)-enabled framework for health monitoring." *Computer Networks* 101, (2016): 192-202.

- Hulse, J.H. 1994. Nature, composition, and utilization of food legumes. In: Muehlbauer FJ, Kaiser WJ (eds) Expanding the production and use of cool season food legumes. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, 77–97
- Hussain, M.I., Akhtar, M.J., Asghar, H.N., and M. Ahmad. 2011. Growth, nodulation and yield of mash bean (*Vigna mungo* L.) as affected by *Rhizobium* inoculation and soil applied L-tryptophan. *Soil and Environment*, **30**:13-17.
- Hynes, R. K., Leung,G.C., Hirkala,D.L. and Nelson.L.M.2008. Isolation, selection, and characterization of beneficial rhizobacteria from pea, lentil, and chickpea grown in western Canada. *Canadian.Journal of Microbiology*, **54**:248–258.
- ICRISAT (International Crops Research Institute for the Semi- Arid Tropics).2015. Ethiopia and ICRISAT: Working with partners for prosperous semi-arid tropics.
- Islam,M.,Mohsan,S.S.,Ali,R.,Khalid,F.U.,Hassan,A. and Subhani,A. 2011. Growth, nitrogen fixation and nutrient uptake by chickpea (Cicer arietinum) in response to phosphorus and sulfur application under rainfed conditions in Pakistan. *International Journal Agriculture and Biology*, 13:725–730.
- Jawahar, S.V., Vaiyapuri.V, Suseendran.K, Kalaiyarasan.C, Sriramach and rasekharan.M.V 2017. Effect of sources and levels of sulphur on growth and yield of rice fallow black gram (*Vigna mungo*). *I.J. Chemistry* ISSN: 2123-2845.
- Jukanti, A.K., Gaur, P.M., Gowda, C.L.L. and Chibbar, R.N. 2012. Nutritional quality and health benefits of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.): a review. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **108(S1)**:S11-S26.
- Kadıoğlu, A. 2004. Plant Physiology, Practice Guide. Trabzon, Turkey.
- Kassie, M., Shiferaw, B., Asfaw, S., Abate, T., Muricho, G., Ferede, S., Eshete, M. and Assefa, K., 2009. Current situation and future outlooks of the chickpea sub-sector in Ethiopia and EIAR (http://www.icrisat. org/tropicallegumesII/pdfs/Current\_Situation.
- Katyal, J.C., Friesen, D.K. and Viek, P.L.G. 1987. *Deficiencies of Micronutrients and Sulphur* on Wheat Production Constraints in Tropical Environment, Chiango Mai, Thailand.late sown conditions. *Agricultural Water Management*, **8**(4): 221-228.
- Kemal, A., Gemechu. K, Seid, A., Rajendra, M., Surendra, B., Khaled, M and Halila, M.H. (eds.) 2006. Food and forage legume of Ethiopia. *Proceedings of a workshop on food and forage legume*, 22-26 Sept, Addis Ababa Ethiopia.
- Khan, M.U., Angela.S., Muhammad,H., Kaneez,F., Asma,I., Muhammad,A., Ghulam,S., Qaiser,M.K. and Muhammad.A. 2015."Cr-resistant rhizo-and endophytic bacteria associated with Prosopis juliflora and their potential as phyto remediation enhancing agents in metal-degraded soils." *Frontiers in plant science.*, **5**:755.

- Kibe, A.M., Singh, S. and Kalra, N., 2006. Water–nitrogen relationships for wheat growth and productivity in late sown conditions. *Agriculture Water Management*, **84**(3):221-228.
- Kumar, B.V. and Sreenivasulu, M. 2004. Integrated nutrient management. Science Tech: The Hindu, online Edition of India's National Newspaper, Thursday 12<sup>th</sup> August, 2004.
- Kumar, C. V, Prakash, S. S., Prashantha, G.M., Mahendra, K.M.B., Lohith, S. and Chikkaramappa, T. 2013. Dry matter production and yield of potato as influenced by different sources and time of fertilizer application and soil chemical properties under rainfed conditions. *Research Journal of Agricultural Science*, 4(2): 155-159.
- Lake, M. and Jemaludin, S. 2018. The Response of Common Bean (*Phaseoluse Vulgaris* L.) to Various Levels of Blended Fertilizer. International Journal of Research in Agriculture and Forestry. 5(7): 2018, PP 15-20.
- Lemma, W., Wassie, H. and Sheleme, B. 2013. Response of Chickpea to nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers in Halaba and Taba, Southern Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Nitrogen Resource*, **13(2):**118-125.
- Liu, P., Yang, Y.S., Xu, G.D., Fang, Y.H., Yang, Y.A. and Kalin, R.M. 2005. The effect of molybdenum and boron in soil on the growth and photosynthesis of three soybean varieties. *Plant Soil Environment*, 51(5):197-205.
- Lodwig, E. and Poole, P. 2003. Metabolism of *rhizobium* bacteroids. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, **22(1):**37–78.
- Mahmood, A. and Honermeier, B., 2012. Chemical composition and methane yield of sorghum cultivars with contrasting row spacing. *Field Crops Research*, **128**:27-33.
- Malik M. A., Cheema M. A., Khan H. Z. 2006. Growth and yield response of soybean (*Glycinemax* L.) to seed inoculation and varying phosphorus levels. Journal of Agricultural Research, **44(1)**: 47-53.
- McKenzie.B.A. and Hill, G.D.1995. Growth and yield of two chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) varieties in Canterbury, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural. Science. 23: 467-474.
- Meseret, T. and Amin, M. 2014. Effect of different phosphorus fertilizer rates on growth, dry matter yield and yield components of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). World Journal Agricultural Research, **2**(**3**): 88-92.
- Millan, T., Clarke , H., Siddique K, Buhariwalla, H., Gaur P, Kumar, J., Gil , J., Kahl, G. and Winter P 2006. Chickpea molecular breeding: New tools and concepts. *Euphytica*, **147**: 81-103.
- Mirza,B.S., Mirza,M.S., Bano,A. and Malik,K. A. 2007. Inoculation of chickpea with *Rhizobium* isolates from roots and nodules and phytohormone producing *Enterobacter* strains. *Australian. Journal of Experimental Agriculture*,**47**:1008–1015.

- Mishra, S. S. and Ram, A. 1971. Tilth, nitrogen and method of phosphate application in relation to gram yield. *Fertilizer News* 16 (10): 65-71.
- Moniruzzaman M, Islam MR and Hasan J 2008. Effect of N, P, K, S, Zn, and B on yield attributes and yield of French bean in south eastern hilly region of Bangladesh. *Journal of Agricultural and Rural Development*, **6**(1&2):75-82.
- Morad, S.A. and Cabot, M.C., 2013. Ceramide-orchestrated signalling in cancer cells. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, **13**(1): 51-65.
- Mourice, SK., Tryphone, GM. 2012. Evaluation of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) genotypes for adaptation to low phosphorus. Intr. Scholarly Research *Net.Agro.*, **2012**:1-9.
- Namvar, A., Seyed, S.R., Sedghi, M., Asghari, Z.R., Khandan, T., Eskandarpour, B. 2011. Study on the effects of organic and inorganic nitrogen fertilizer on yield, yield components and nodulation state of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 42(9): 1097-1109.
- Nawale, S.S., Pawar, A.D., Lambade, B.M. and Ugale, N.S. 2009. Yield maximization of chick pea through INM applied to sorghum-chickpea cropping sequence under irrigated condition. Legume Research, **32**(**4**): 282-285.
- Neumann, U., Kosier, B., Jahnke, J., Priefer, U.B. and Al-Halbouni.D, 2011. Soil factors exhibit greater influence than bacterial inoculation on alfalfa growth and nitrogen fixation. *FEMS Microbial. Ecol.*, **77**:590–599.
- Nleya, T., Vandenberg, A., Araganosa, G., Warkentin, T., Muehlbauer, F.J. and Slinkard, A.E., 2000. Produce quality of food legumes: Genotype (G), environment (E) and (GxE) considerations. In *Linking research and marketing opportunities for pulses in the 21st century* (pp. 173-182). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Ojiewo, O.C., 2016. Chickpea production, technology adoption and market linkages in Ethiopia. In: Paper Presented at Pan-African Grain Legume and World Cowpea Conference. Feb 28–Mar 4, 2016, Livingstone-Zambia.
- Olsen, S.R., Cole, C.V., Watanabe, F.S. and Dean, L.A. 1954. Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium carbonate. *USDA Circular* **939**: 1-19.
- Ozer, S., Karakoy, T., Toklu, F., Baloch, F.S., Kilian, B. and Ozkan, H., 2010. Nutritional and physicochemical variation in Turkish kabuli chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) landraces. *Euphytica*, **175**(2): 237-249.
- Pande,S., Sharma,M., Guar,PM., Tripathi,S., Kaur,L., Basandria,A., Khan,T., Gowda,C. and Siddique KHM, 2011. Development of screening techniques and identification of new sources of resistance to Ascochyta blight disease of chickpea. *Australian .Plant Pathology*, **40**: 149-156.

- Peter, M., Debra, K.R. and Svotwa, E. 2015. Effect of split nitrogen application and fertilizer rate on yield of Irish potatoes (Solanum tuberosum) in a smallholder farming sector of Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Innovative Science, Engineering and Technology*, 2(1):112 123.
- Purushothaman, R., Upadhyaya, H.D., Gaur, P.M., Gowda, C.L.L. and Krishnamurthy, L., 2014. Kabuli and desi chickpeas differ in their requirement for reproductive duration. *Field Crops Research*, 163:24-31.
- Ramesh, P., Panwar, N. R. and Singh, A. B. 2010. Crop productivity, soil fertility and economics of soybean (Glycine max), chickpea (Cicer arietinum) and blond psyllium (Plantagoovata) under organic nutrient management practices. *Indian Journal of* .*Agriculture.Sci*, **80** (11): 213-219.
- Rasul, F., Cheema, M.A., Sattar, A., Saleem, M.F. and Wahid, M.A 2012. "Evaluating the performance of three mungbean varieties grown under varying inter-row spacing," *Journal of Animal and Plant Science*, 22(4):1030–1035.
- Romdhane, S.B., Trabelsi, M., Aouani, M.E., De Lajudie, P. and Mhamdi, R., 2009. The diversity of rhizobia nodulating chickpea (Cicer arietinum) under water deficiency as a source of more efficient inoculants. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **41**(12)□ 2568-2572.
- Sagan, C., Thompson, W.R., Carlson, R., Gurnett, D. and Hord, C., 1993. A search for life on *Earth from the Galileo spacecraft. Nature*, **365**(6448) :715-721.
- Saha, A., Mandal, B. K. and Mukhopadyay, P. 1996. Residual effect of boron and molybdenum on the yield of succeeding mungbean in summer. *Indian Agriculturis*. 40(1):11-16.
- Salvagiotti, F., Cassman. K.G, Specht J.E, Walters D.T, Weiss A & Dobermann A. 2008. Nitro gen uptake, fixation and response to N in soybeans: A review. *Field Crops Research*. **108**:1-13.
- Sau,J.D., Roman ,M. L., Sumanta,T. and Das,S.S.2010. "Generic new platform for topological quantum computation using semiconductor hetero structures." *Physical review letters* 104(4): 040502.
- Saxena, M.C. and Singh, K.B. 1987. *The chickpea*. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux International.
- Scherer, H.W., Pacyna.S, Spoth,K. and Schulz,M. 2008. Low levels of ferredoxin, ATP and leghemoglobin contribute to limited N<sub>2</sub> fixation of peas (*Pisum sativum L.*) and alfalfa (*Medicago sativa L.*) under S deficiency conditions. *Biology and fertility of Soils*, 44:909-916.
- Scherer, HW., Pacyna S, Manthey N and Schulz M, 2006. Sulphur supply to peas (*Pisum sativum* L.) influences symbiotic N<sub>2</sub> fixation. *Plant Soil Environmental*, **52(2)**:72-77.

- Sexton, P.J., Paek, N.C. and Shibles, R.1998. Soybean sulphur and nitrogen balance under varying levels of available sulfur. *Crop Science.*, **38**: 975-982.
- Shabeer, S., Girdlestone, J., Briggs, D., Kaul, B., Smith, H., Daga, S., Chand, S., Jham, S., Navarrete, C., Harper, L. and Ball, S., 2015. Transitional B lymphocytes are associated with protection from kidney allograft rejection: a prospective study. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 15(5): 1384-1391.
- Shamim.M and Naimat. A,1987. Effect of seed inoculation with rhyzobium and N. P. fertlizers on the yield of gram. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Research*, **8**:383-385.
- Shiferaw, B. and Teklewold, H. 2007. Structure and functioning of chickpea markets in Ethiopia: Evidence based on analysis of value chains linking smallholders and markets.
- Shiferaw,B., Obare,G. and Muricho,G. 2006. Rural institutions and producer organizations in imperfect markets: Experiences from producer marketing groups in semi-arid eastern Kenya.ICRISAT Socio-economic and Policy Working Paper 23. ICRISAT (International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics), Patancheru, India. 79 pp.
- Shubhashree,KS. 2007. Response of Rajmash (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) to the Levels of Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Potassium during Rabi in the Northern Transition Zone. MSc Thesis Dharwad University of Agricultural Science, Dharwad.
- Singh, K.B., 1997. Chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). Field crops research, 53(1-3):161-170.
- Sutharsan, S., Yatawatte, V. and Srikrisnah.S. 2016. Effect of Different Rates of Nitrogen and Phosphorous on Growth and Nodulation of Glycine max in the Eastern Region of Sri Lanka. *World Journal of Engineering and Techno.* **4**:14-17.
- Takele, A. and Dechassa, N. 2018. *Response of Chickpea (Cicer arientinum L.) Varieties to NPSZnB Application Ada'a-Liban District, Central Ethiopia* (Doctoral dissertation, Haramaya University).
- Tanaka A and Fujita K. 1979. Growth, photosynthesis and yield components in relation to seed yield of the field bean. *Journal Faculty of Agricultural Hokkaido University*. 59(2):145-238.
- Tandon, H.L.S. 1989. Sulphur Fertilizer for Indian Agriculture. A Guide Book, Fertilizer Development and Consultation Organization (C-110 Greater Kailash-1, New Delhi-110048, India.
- Tayefe, M., Gerayzade, A., Amiri, E. and Zade, A. N. 2011. Effect of nitrogen fertilizer on nitrogen uptake, nitrogen use efficiency of rice Intl. In *Conference on Biology*, *Environment and Chemistry IPCBEE*, 24: 440-473.

- Tena, W., Wolde-Meskel, E. and Walley, F. 2016. Response of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) to inoculation with native and exotic Mesorhizobium strains in Southern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, **15**(**35**): 1920-1929.
- Tesfahun.W. 2018 "Tef Yield Response to NPS Fertilizer and Methods of Sowing in East Shewa, Ethiopia." *Journal of Agricultural .Science*, **13**(2): 162-173.
- Togay, N., Togay, Y., Cimrin, K.M .and Turan ,M. 2008. Effect of *Rhizobium* inoculation, sulphur and phosphorus application on yield, yield components and nutrient uptake in chickpea (*CiceraretinumL.*). *African .Journal Biotech*, **7**(6): 776-782.

Tomar, V., Zhai, J. and Zhou, M., 2004. Bounds for element size in a variable stiffness cohesive finite element model. *International journal for numerical methods in engineering*, **61**(11):1894-1920.

- Tripathi, S., Sridhar, V., Jukanti, A.K., Suresh, K., Rao, B.V., Gowda, C.L.L, and Gaur, P.M. 2012. Genetic Variability and Interrelationships of Phenological, Physico-chemical and Cooking Quality Traits in Chickpea. ICRISAT, Patancheru, Hyderabad, Andhra Pradesh, India.
- Tsai, SM., Bonetti,R., Agbala, S.M. and Rossetto ,R.1993. Minimizing the effect of mineral nitrogen on biological nitrogen fixation in common bean by increasing nutrient levels. *Plant and Soil*, **152**:131-138.
- Upadhyaya, H.D., Dwivedi, S.L., Baum, M., Varshney, R.K., Udupa, S.M., Gowda, C.L., Hoisington, D. and Singh, S. 2008. Genetic structure, diversity, and allelic richness in composite collection and reference set in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum L.*). *BMC Plant Biology*, 8(1):106.
- Van Der Maesen, L J G.1987. Origin, history, and taxonomy of chickpea. In: The Chickpea. Saxena, M. C. and Singh, K. B. (eds), CAB International Publications, UK.

Wondimu, T., Chandravanshi, B.S. and Yemane, M., 2008. Levels of essential and nonessential metals in leaves of the tea plant (Camellia sinensis L.) and soil of Wushwush farms, Ethiopia. *Food chemistry*, **107(3)**:1236-1243.

- Yasari, E. and Patwardhan, A. M. 2006. Physiological analysis of the growth and development of canola (*Brassica napusL.*) under different chemical fertilizer application. *Asian Journal of Plant Science*
- Yemane, M., Chandravanshi, B. S and Taddese, W. 2008. Levels of essential and non-essential metals in leaves of the tea plant (Camellia sinensis L.) and soil of Wushwush farms, Ethiopia." Food Chemistry, 107(3):1236-1243.
- Zafar, M., Abbasi, MK. and Khaliq A.2013. Effect of different phosphorus sources on the growth, yield, energy content and phosphorus utilization efficiency in maize at Rawalako Azad Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 36:1915-1934.

- Zajac, T., Grzesiak S, Kulig, B. and Polacek, M. 2005. The estimation of productivity and yield of linseed (*LinumusitatissimumL.*) using the growth analysis. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, **27**(**4**A): 549-558.
- Zhou, D., Caporaso, J.G., Knight, R. and Angenent, L.T., 2012. Comparison of Illumina paired-end and single-direction sequencing for microbial 16S rRNA gene amplicon surveys. *The ISME journal*, **6(7)** :1273-1276.

## APPENDXICES

		DF		DM		PLH		NPB		LA		SDW		RDW	
Source	DF	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>
Rep	2	2.02	0.41	15.65 <sup>NS</sup>	0.3711	0.50	0.5323	0.07	0.396	20.38	0.2317	4.88	<.0001	0.23	0.1685
INOC	1	0.33	0.70	243.00	0.0004	63.25	<.0001	0.06	0.382	136.38	0.0033	53.13	<.0001	0.44	0.0684
VAR	1	33.33	0.00	96.33	0.0176	0.42	0.4668	0.23	0.095	2.25	0.6831	22.55	<.0001	0.04	0.5603
FERT	3	45.06	<.0001	10.36	0.5720	2.34	0.0456	0.08	0.392	30.66	0.0970	26.80	<.0001	0.03	0.8837
INOC*VAR	1	0.00	1.00	70.08	0.0404	9.45	0.0015	0.32	0.051	11.16	0.3661	19.64	<.0001	0.73	0.0211
INOC*FER	3	3.72	0.19	0.06	0.9997	2.16	0.0577	0.23	0.048	49.65	0.0220	3.37	<.0001	0.14	0.3406
VAR*FER	3	11.28	0.01	43.06	0.0557	0.85	0.3671	0.19	0.081	34.21	0.0729	1.64	<.0001	0.13	0.3731
INOC*VAR*FER	3	6.06	0.06	17.58	0.3444	7.46	0.0001	0.12	0.217	64.23	0.0076	0.45	<.0001	0.38	0.0422
ERROR	30	2.22		19.59		0.75		0.08		13.22		0.03		0.12	
Total	47														
CV		2.93		3.33		2.91		8.09		14.60		2.27		12.64	

Appendix Table- 1. Mean square values of 50% flowering date, 90% physiological maturity date and plant height, Number of branch plant-1; leaf area index ,shoot dry weight and root dry weight.

NB:\* and\*\* at 5% and1% probability level, respectively. DF= Degree of freedom; NS= Not Significant; Var = variety; Fert =Fertilizer, Inoc = inoculation, CV=coefficient of variation.

		NNPP		NFW		NDW		NEN	
Source	DF	M S	Pr > F	M S	Pr > F	M S	Pr > F	M S	Pr > F
Rep	2	3.84	0.9116	11.15	0.0035	1.06	0.3655	0.40	0.7118
INOC	1	4752.12	<.0001	31.69	0.0001	11.56	0.0021	4.69	0.0526
VAR	1	394.45	0.0043	4.08	0.1227	0.46	0.5086	0.52	0.5064
FER	3	472.78	<.0001	147.45	<.0001	37.86	<.0001	3.13	0.0620
INOC*VAR	1	227.07	0.0259	61.29	<.0001	14.79	0.0006	3.52	0.0906
INOC*FER	3	64.28	0.2208	54.75	<.0001	16.19	<.0001	3.41	0.0480
VAR*FER	3	65.77	0.2122	12.03	0.0007	5.58	0.0040	1.13	0.4139
INOC*VAR*FER	3	12.79	0.8184	13.60	0.0003	1.60	0.2182	1.47	0.3015
ERROR	30	41.34		1.61		1.02		1.15	
Total	47								
CV		20.78		16.56		21.64		27.93	

Appendix Table- 2. Mean square values of nodule number, nodule fresh weight ,nodule dry weight and number of effective nodule

NB:\* and\*\* at 5% and1% probability level, respectively. DF= Degree of freedom; NS= Not Significant; Var = variety; Fer =Fertilizer, Inoc = inoculation, CV=coefficient of variation.

		HSW		HI		NSPP		NPPP		YIELD	
Source	DF	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>	M S	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>
Rep	2	1.90	0.6331	0.003	0.1180	0.13	0.2066	2.44	0.9265	0.38	0.2950
INOC	1	14.74	0.0671	0.034	<.0001	0.06	0.3920	999.19	<.0001	0.05	0.6836
VAR	1	33.67	0.0074	0.022	0.0001	0.05	0.0095	0.24	0.9313	234.44	<.0001
FER	3	37.30	0.0002	0.011	0.0001	0.49	0.0022	242.57	0.0006	681.79	<.0001
INOC*VAR	1	0.37	0.7663	0.008	0.0121	0.50	0.180	160.60	0.0322	147.84	<.0001
INOC*FER	3	4.79	0.3361	0.016	<.0001	0.44	0.41	144.25	0.0098	330.12	<.0001
VAR*FER	3	7.92	0.1447	0.035	<.0001	0.08	0.4293	146.58	0.0091	48.84	<.0001
INOC*VAR*FER	3	22.46	0.0039	0.022	<.0001	0.07	0.4838	398.74	<.0001	11.42	<.0001
ERROR	30	4.08		0.002		0.08		31.82		0.29	
Total	47										
CV		6.05		5.85		21.69		14.30		2.62	

Appendix Table 3. Mean square values of hundred seed weight, harvest index ,number of seed pod-1,number of pod plant-1 and grain yield

NB:\* and\*\* at 5% and1% probability level, respectively. DF= Degree of freedom; NS= Not Significant; Var = variety; Fer =Fertilizer,Inoc = inoculation, CV=coefficient of variation.

Source	DF	Mean Square	F Value	<b>Pr</b> > <b>F</b>
Rep	2	1.17	0.51	0.6082
INOC	1	1590.22	689.29	<.0001
VAR	1	0.13 <sup>NS</sup>	0.06	0.8138
FERT	3	887.35	384.63	<.0001
INOC*VAR	1	8.40	3.64	0.066
<b>INOC*FER</b>	3	345.72	149.86	<.0001
VAR*FER	3	301.79	130.81	<.0001
INOC*VAR*FER	3	51.47	22.31	<.0001
ERROR	30	2.30		
Total	47			
CV		14.06		

Appendix Table 4. Mean square values of agronomic efficiency of applied fertilizer,

NB:\* and\*\* at 5% and1% probability level, respectively. DF= Degree of freedom; NS= Not Significant; Var = variety; Fert =Fertilizer,Inoc = inoculation, CV=coefficient of variation.